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Pnonzx& SlNuBRsoN
Profe s s ional As s ociation/Certified P ublic Accountants

t93 North Main street

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of the City Council
City of Lebanon
Lebanon, New Hampshire

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each major fund,
and aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Lebanon as of and for the year ended December 31,2022, and the

related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position
of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each major fund, and aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Lebanin, as of December 31, 2022,the rispective changes in financial position, where applicable cash flows thereof, and the

respective budgetary comparison for the general fund for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Basisfor Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the

standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the

United Statei. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City of Lebanon and to meet our other
ethical responsibilities, in accordance wiih the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

The City of Lebanon's management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,

implementation, and maintenance of intemal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free fiom material misstatement, whether due to fraud or er:ror.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in
the aggrega'ie, that raise substantial doubt about the City of Lebanon's ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months

Ueyoi] tf,e financial statement date including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly
thereafter.

Auditor's Responsibilitiesfor the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatiment, whether due to fraud or effor, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is

a high level ofassurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
genJrally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a
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material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based

on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:

o Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
o Identi& and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis,

evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
r Obtain an understanding ofinternal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Lebanon's
internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

. Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, Ihat raise substantial
doubt about the City of Lebanon's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with govemance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

Change in Accoanting Principle
As discussed in Note 2-D to the financial statements, in fiscal year 2022 the City adopted new accounting guidance,

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87, Leases. Our opinions are not modified with respect to
this matter.

Required Supplementary Information - Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that

the following be presented to supplement the basic financial statements:

r Management's Discussion and Analysis,
. Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability,
o Schedule of City Contributions - Pensions,
o Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net Other Postemployment Benefits Liability,
r Schedule of City Contributions - Other Postemployment Benefits,
. Schedule of Changes in the City's Total Other Postemployment Benefits Liability and Related Ratios, and
r Notes to the Required Supplementary Information

Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards

Board, who considers it to be an essentialpart of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate

operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquiries of management about the metliods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the

basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information - Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
coliectively comprise the City of Lebanon's basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund schedules are

presented for purpor.r of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The Schedule of
b,xpenditures of nederal Awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal

Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards and is also not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining and individual fund schedules and the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are the responsibility of
management und *.." derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic

financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves' and

2
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other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the combining and individual fund schedules and the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are fairly stated, in
all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 28, 2024 on our
consideration of the City of Lebanon's internal control over financial reporting and on ourtests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the
icope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide
an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Lebanon's internal control over financial reporting
and compliance.

February 28,2024
Concord, New Hampshire

PLODZIK SANDERSON
Professional Association

J
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As management of the city of Lebanon, we offer readers of these financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial

activities of the city for the fiscal year ended December 3l ,2022. The city's financial performance is discussed and analyzed within the

context of the accompanying financial statements and the disclosures that follow this section'

A. OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the basic financial statements, which are comprised of three

components: 1. financiai statements, 2. notes to the basic frnancial statements, and 3. required supplementary information' This

report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves'

Government-wide Financial statements. The govemment-wide financial statements - statement of Net Position; statement of

Activities-- are designed to provide ."ud.r, with both short- and long-term information about the city's overall financial status'

Financial reporting at this level uses a perspective similar to that rouila in the private sector with its basis in accrual accounting

and elimination or reclassification of activities between funds'

The statement oJ Net position presents information on all of the city's assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and

deferred inflow of resources with the difference reported as net position. over time, increases or decreases in net position may

serye as a useful indicator of whether the financial iosition of the city as a whole is improving or deteriorating'

The Statement of Activitiespresents information showing how the City's net position changed during the most recent fiscal year'

All changes in net position are reported as soon as the uiderlying event giving rise to the clange occurs' regardless of the timing

of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported ir tirls statement for some items that will only result in cash flows

in future fiscal periods (for example, uncollected taxes)'

Both government-wide financial statements distinguish functions that are principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental

revenues (governmental activities) from other frurctions that are intended to reccver ali cr a significant portion of their costs through

user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities include general government, public safety, highways

and streets, welfare, culture and recreation, .onr"ruortion, and interest on long-term debt' The business-type activities included

solid waste disposal, water treatment and distribution, sewage collection and disposal, and municipal airport activities'

Fund Financial Statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have

been segregated for specific activities or objJctives._Fund accounting is used to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-

related legal requirements. All funds of the City are divided into tlree categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and

fiduciaryfunds.

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the government-

wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, govemm€ntal fund financial statements

focus on near-term inflows and outflows ofspendable resources, as well as on balances ofipendable resources available at the end

of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing requirements'

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the govemment-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare

the information presented for govemmental funds with similar lnformation presented for governmental activities in the

government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the govemment's near-

term financing decisions. Both the gouern o'"ntal fund bal'ance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues'

expenditures, and changes in fund balan"ces provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and

governmental activitiesl An annual uppropiiut.d budget is adopted for the general fund. A budgetary comparison statement has

6een provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget'

proprietary funds areused to account for activities that receive significant support from fees and charges' A type ofproprietary

fund is an enterprise fund; enterprise funds are used to report tf," ,urn. funCtions presented as bu-siness-type activities in the

govemment-wide financial statements. It was determined in 2014 that based on the provisions of Governmental Accounting

Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 34 that the city's solid waste disposal, water treatment and distribution, sewage collection

and disposal, and municipal airport funds qualiff for piesentation in the financial statements as business-type activities'

4



Fiduciaryfunds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the City. Fiduciary funds are not reflected
in the government-wide financial statement because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City's own
programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for private enterprises.

Notes to the Financial Statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data
provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Required Sunplementarv Information. In addition to this Management's Discussion and Analysis, the basic financial statements
and accompanying notes are followed by a section of required supplementary information. This section includes Funding Progress
for Other Postemployment Benefits Plans and information about the New Hampshire Retirement System.

Other Information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain
supplementary information which is required to be disclosed by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

B. FINANCIALHIGHLIGHTS

In comparison to the prior year, as ofthe close ofthe current fiscal year:

o Total assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by
$t46,64s,63s.r Governmental funds repofied combined ending fund balances of $21,718, 120, an increase of $2,395,915.

o General fund unassigned fund balance was $ 10,915,290, a decrease of $ 1,716,201.
o Bonds/notes payable (governmental and business-type activities combined) were $88,900,736, an increase of $250,137.
o Authorized and unissued debt was 522,145,029, an increase of $3,073,860.

C. GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

At the close ofthe current fiscal year, total assets and deferred outflows ofresources ofthe City exceeded its liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources by $146,645,635, an increase of $5,369,265 in comparison to the prior year.

The largest portion of net position $142,445,83 I represents investment in capital assets (land, building, machinery and equipment
and infrastructure) less related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. These capital assets are used by the City
to provide services to citizens and are, consequently, not available for future spending. Although the investment in capital assets

is reported net ofrelated debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources,
since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

An additional portion of net position 54,464,101 represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be
used; the remaining balance ($264,297) represents the part of net position of the City that can be used to finance dayto-day
operations without constraints established by debt covenants, enabling legislation, or other legal requirements (unrestricted).

5



NET POSITION

Governmental Activities Business-Tvpe Activities Total

2022 2021 1
2022

$42,751 ,647 $39,692,670 $35,559,883 $34' 1 19'808 $77,3'11,530 $73,812,478
Current and Other Assets

Capital Assets $1 15,852 .519 $1 1 3, 754.365 $1 15.494.048 $111.31 1 567

Total Assets $158,604,166 $153,447,035 $151'053'931 $145,434,851

$489,790

$60,802,364

$309,658,097 $298,881,886

Deferred Outflows of
Resources

Long{erm Liabilities
Outstanding

Other Liabilities

$5,097,195 $4,713,008 $537,961 $5,635,156 $5,202,798

$75,103,803 $66,756,399

$1 9,380,670 $19,722,688

$94,484,473 $86,479,087

$62,583,121 $137,686,924 $127,558,763

$1 $1 1 344

$64,546,544 $62,747,30',1 $1 59,031 ,017 $149,226,388
Total Liabilities

$3,897,309 $9,095,1 1 8 $5,719,292 $4,486,808 $9,616,601 $1 3,581 ,926
Deferred lnflows of Resources

Net Position:

Net lnvestment in Capital
Assets

Restricted

Unrestricted

Total Net Position

$73,806,802 $72,485,325

$2,74A384 s2,543,582

($11 ,227 ,607) ($12'443'069)

$65-319J79 $62J85338

$68,639,029

$1,723,717

$63,933,484

93,922,111

$142,445,831

$4,464,101

$136,418,809

$6,465,693

$1 .310 $1 0, 834.937 I 1

$81-326*056 $7S-690J32 $1463t5S35 514127j.379
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$2,163,541

$1 ,832,319

$766,894

$25,959,114

$3,871,376

s2,484,373

$986,915

$51 1,912

$25,354,730

$3,605,331

$16,302,427

$2,838,854

$0

$14,499,846

$2,270,207

$0

Total

$18,465,968

$4,67't,173

$766,894

$25,959,1 14

$3,871,376

$10,380,202

$13,128,482

$6,908,497

$s,823,398

$3,960,224

$2,913,31 9

$636,606

$2,492,350

$3,421,677

$66,753

$141,276,370

$146315-6:15

$16,984,219

$3,257,122

$51 1 ,912

$25,354,730

$3,605,331

$1,327,031

$9,092,003

$1 1 ,433,1 28

$5,842,408

$5,545,623

$3,663,751

$2,893,288

$468,881

$1,88s,876

$2,889,186

$304,1 1 1

$1 33,1 32,861

s1a127f"379

CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Governmental Activities Business-Tvpe Activities

2022 2021 2022 2021

Revenues:

Program Revenues --

Charges for Services

Operating Grants and Contributions

Capital Grants and Contributions

General Revenues --

Property and Other Taxes

Licenses & Permits

Grants and Contributions Not Reskicted to
Specific Programs

Other General Revenues

Total Revenues

Contributions to Permanent Funds

Transfers

Total Revenues lncluding Transfers

Expenses:

General Government

Public Safety

Highway and Streets

Sewage Collection and Disposal

Solid Waste Disposal

Water Distribution and Treatment

Welfare (Human Services)

Municipal Airport

Culture and Recreation

Conservation

lnterest on Long-term Debt

Total Expenses

Change in Net Position

Net Position Beginning 1/1

Net Position Ending 12l31

$1,996,272 $1 .396.156

$38,439,221 $36,723,346

$19,821,087 $17,967,056

$0 $0

($1 ,996,272) ($1 ,396,156)

$17,824,815 $16,570,900

$1,487,249

2

$56,258,686 $53,276,553

$56,264,036 $53,294,246

$0

$o

$0

$0

$1,487,249

$357,1 06

$1,327,031

s't.039.205

$0

$679,806

$o

$1,197,003

$36,437,599

$5,350

$35,309,497

$17,693

$10,380,202

$13,128,482

$6,908,497

$o

$0

$0

$636,606

$0

$3,421,677

$66,753

$1,163,263

$9,092,003

$11,433,128

$5,842,408

$0

$0

$o

$468,881

$0

$2,889,1 86

$304,1 1 1

$1,132,482

$o

$0

$o

$5,823,398

$3,960,224

$2,913,31 I
$0

$2,492,350

$o

$o

$o

$0

$0

$0

$5,545,623

$3,663,751

$2,893,288

$0

$1,885,876

$0

$o

$0

$35,705,480

$2,733.741

$31 ,1 62,1 99

$5,561,147

$1 5,1 89,291

$2,635,524

$13,988,538

$2,582,362

$50,894,771 $45,150,737

265

$62,585,838

$653r9J79
$57,024,691

$62J85j38
$78,690,532

$gl_326*056

$76,1 08,1 70

$28j90J32

Governmental Activities. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental
activities in the government-wide financial statements. Governmental activities for the year resulted in a change (increase) in net
position of $2,733,7 41.
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program revenues of g4,762,754covered 13.3vo of program expenses. The remaining 86.7Yowas financed by general revenues including

property and other taxes, licenses & permits, grants anicontributions not restricted to-specific programs, *9-9!h:l general revenues' The

primary funding source for governmental activities was taxes ($25,959,114) consisting of properry taxes ($23,93 1,488) and othertaxes

(52,02'7,626). property taxes comprise about 62.3yoof total program revenues, generallevenues and conhibutions and fransfers'

The General Government function makes up29.l% of the total govemmental activities'expenses followed-by Public safety' 36'8%'

Highway and Streets, lg .3yo,welfare, l. gzo, culture and Recreat ion, 9 .6%o, conservation , 0 .2o/o and Interest on Long-Term Debt 3 '3v:o'

Net change in General Fund fund balance

Net change in Capital lmprovements Fund fund balance

Net change in other governmental funds fund balance

Capital outlays exceed depreciation expense and asset disposals

Revenue that does not provide current financial resources

Offset the effect of providing/using resources through the issuance/repayment of long-term principal debt

Change in accrued interest expense, compensated absences payable, pension liability, and postemployment

benefits payable

Amount
($982,477)

$3,250,209

$1 28,1 83

$2,098,154

$238,674

($755,817)

1 1

Total

Total Gost of Services

Amount %

Net Cost of Services

Amount %

Governmental Activities:

General Government

Public Safety

Highway and Streets

Welfare (Human Services)

Culture and Recreation

Conservation

lnterest on Long-Term Debt

Capital OutlaY

$10,380,202

$13j28,482
$6,908,497

$636,606

$3,421,677

$66,753

$1,163,263

$0

29.1o/o

36.8%

4 O a,o/^

1.8%

9.6Yo

0.2o/o

3.3Yo

0.0o/o

($10,026,403)

($11,389,298)

($6,443,550)

($636,606)

($2,84e,545)

($41,010)

($1,149,220)

$1,592,906

32.40

36.8%

20.8%

2.1%

9.2%

0.1%

3.7%

-5.1%

Total $35.70511S0 100i% 630p42J20 l!oi%

Business-tvpe Activities. Business-fype activities for the year resulted in a change in net position of $3 '95 I ,990

Total Cost of Services Net Gost of Services

AmountAmount fo

Business TyPe Activities:

Sewage Collection and DisPosal

Solid Waste Disposal

Water Treatment and Distribution

Municipal Airport

$5,823,398

$3,960,224

$2,913,319

$2.492,350

38.3o/o

26.1%

19.2%

$2,031,580

($154,367)

$1,095,046

51.4To

-3.90k

27.7%

24.8%
1

Total

6.4o/o 731

8



The City of Lebanon uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. The
focus of this section is specific to funds and types of funds versus entity wide.

Governmental Funds, The focus of governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows and balances
of spendable resources. This information is useful in determining financing requirements. Of interest is unassigned fund balance,
which may serve as a useful measure of net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. Unassigned Fund Balance
is the residual classification for the City's general fund and includes all amounts not contained in other fund balance component
classifications and therefore not subject to any constraints.

At the close of the current fiscal year, governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $2 I ,7 I 8, 120, an increase of
$2,395,915.

The City's Fund Balance Policy is intended to provide adequate financial resources to ensure the continued orderly operation of
govemment and the provision of services to residents and the continued stability of the tax or rate structure that can be threatened
by uncertainty emanating from a number of areas including economic uncertainty, unanticipated changes in federal and state
policies, imposition of federal and state mandates, unanticipated expenditures resulting from natural disasters or other unforeseen
circumstances, etrors in estimating expenditures and revenues, potential drain on resources from funds facing financial difficulties,
and disparities in timing between revenue collections and expenditures.

Funds other than the General Fund exist primarily to ensure and demonstrate compliance with limitations on the use of existing
resources or as enterprises. The General Fund, as the chief operating fund of the City, has a broader mandate which may include
accumulating sufficient financial resources for contingencies.

KEY ELEMENTS OF CHANGE IN COMBINED FUND BALANCES

General Fund expenditures and transfers out in excess of revenues and transfers in

Capital lmprovements Fund revenues, transfers in, and bond/note proceeds in excess of expenditures and transfers out

Other governmental funds revenues and transfers in in excess of expenditures and transfers out

($982,477)

$3,250,209

$ 1 28.1 83

$2-395-915

($9,461)

($2,1 53)

$9,853

$252

($1,224)

$4,511

($215,624)

$10,766

$150,000

$442,013

$12

($260.762\

Other Governmental Funds:

Library Fund expenditures exceed revenues and transfers in

Public Safety Revolving Fund (Police) expenditures exceed revenues

Lebanon Open Space Fund revenues

Public Safety Revolving Fund (Fire) revenues exceed expenditures

Farmers Market Fund expenditures exceed revenues

Recreation Revolving Fund revenues exceed expenditures
lmpact Fees transfers out exceed
revenues

Cemetery Maintenance revenues

Public Assistance Revolving Fund transfers in

Downtown TIF District revenues

AirporUTech Park TIF District revenues

Permanent Fund (cemetery perpetual care) revenues exceed expenditures and transfers out

Net Change in Fund Balances

Net tn
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UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE. DECEMBER 31. 2022

Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis:
Unassigned Fund Balance 1/1

Percentage of total general fund current year budgeted expenditures

Changes:

Unassigned fund balance used to reduce 2022lax 'ale
Unassigned fund balance voted from surplus

Revenue surPlus

Unexpended balance of appropriations

Decrease in nonspendable fund balance

lncrease in assigned fund balance (non-encumbrance)

Unassigned fund balance 12131 Non-GAAP budgetary basis

Percentage of total general fund current year budgeted expenditures

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Basis to GAAP Basis:

Deferral of property taxes not collected within 60 days of year-end

Elimination of the allowance for uncollectible taxes

Unassigned fund balance 12131 GAAP basis

$r2J88J65
36.6%

($1 ,078,461)

($2,771,450)

$1 ,1 52,675

$1,375,786

$322,551

7

s13-542445

32.50h

($777,155)

50 000

$10J15*290

It is the objective of the city to maintain an unassigned Fund Balance of 1g.0% to 24.0oh of gross current General Fund budgeted

expenditures.

r The City considers a balance of less than l9.}Yoto be a cause for concern and, considering factors or circumstances that

may require a higher than normal maximum level of Unassigned Fund Balance, a balance of more than24'}Yo as excessive'

r In the event Unassigned Fund Balance is less than 19.0%o,restorative steps shall be taken in the immediate subsequent

fiscal years. An amount more than 24.0%may be considered to reduce tax levy requirements determined in conjunction with the

annual budget process, as a capital improvement funding component, for reservation to accumulate funding for future capital

improvemeits, or for any legal purpose'deemed appropriate and desirable by the City Council'

o This policy is not intended to preclude the administrative application of Unassigned Fund Balance as a companion to the

budgeted application of Unassigned Fund Balance as a mitigating ufiiity in setting the annual Municipal Tax Rate'

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

canital Assets. Total invesfinent in capital assets for both Governmental and Business-type activities at year end was

$23 1,3 46,5 67 (net of accumu lated depreciation)'

E.

The capital improvements fund is where the acquisition or construction of major, expensive' and long-lived capital facilities are

budgeted. operating budgets are period oriented (January I to December 3l); tire .upitul improvements budget is project oriented'

10



2021 CAPITAL ASSETS

Amount Amount

Governmental Activities

Not being depreciated:

Land

lntangible assets

Construction in Progress

$7,629,286

$189,570

Business-tvPe Activities:

Not being depreciated:

Land

Intangible assets

Construction in Progress

$809,968

$545,054

$1

Total $23,755,085 Total $1 1,873,706

Net of depreciation:

Land lmprovements

Building and Building lmprovements

Machinery and EquiPment

lnfrastructure

$1,245,538

$19,481,689

$7,943,926

Net of depreciation:

Land lmprovements

Building and Building lmprovements

Machinery and EquiPment

lnfrastructure

$11,825,735

$25,762,321

s4,402,258

$61, 328 127

Total $89,999,280 Total $99,441,337

Net BV value governmental activities capital assets $_rL:rJ3t365 Net BV business-type activities capital assets $rll-315j43

BV = Book Value Net BV

2022 CAPITAL ASSETS

Amount Amount

Governmental Activities

Not being depreciated:

Land

lntangible assets

Construction in Progress

$7,702,436

$584,820

Business-tvPe Activities:

Not being dePreciated:

Land

lntangible assets

Construction in Progress

$809,968

$635,054

.398

Total $16,783,654

Net of depreciation:

$1,459,074 Land lmProvements

$21,907,657 Buildingand Building lmprovements

$7,293,852 Machinery and EquiPment

$68,408,282 lnfrastructure

Total $99,068,865

Total $15,234,252

Net of depreciation:

Land lmprovements

Building and Building lmprovements

Machinery and EquiPment

lnfrastructure

$11,036,229

$28,739,527

$4,556,106

Total $100,259,796

Net BV value governmental activities capital assets $ll-5.852-t111 Net BV business-type activities capital assets $115-494*Q18

BV all I assets
BV=

l1



2022CAPITAL BUDGET
Source of FinanciP

mental$13 1lnfrastructure 980Other$1Vehicle and
$e 209 860Debt Proceeds$t 77 000lnfastructure

1lnterfund TransfersOther 16Total$ 16,365 340Total

Other lncludes
$Streets/Multi-Mod al-PlanLebanon Com

uisition - 226 Mascoma Street
000Total

Lons-Term Debt

At the close of the current fiscal year, bonds/notes payable (governmental and business-type activities combined) were

$gg,900,736, an increase of $250,131;annual requirements-(govemmental and business-type activities combined) to amortize all

bonds/notes payable (principal and interest) were $102,15i,704, u decrease of $340,268; authorized and unissued debt was

s22,145,02g,an increase of $3,073,860. All outstanding debt is debt backed by the full faith and credit of the city'

Governmental activities

Bonds/notes PaYable

Unamortized Bond Premium

Compensated Absences PaYable

Net Other Postemployment Benefits

Net Pension LiabilitY

Business-tyPe activities

Bonds/notes PaYable

Unamortized Bond Premium

Compensated Absences PaYable

Accrued Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs

Net Other Postemployment Benefits

Net Pension LiabilitY

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES. DECEMBER 31. 2022

Balance 1i1

$38,421,546

847

Total Bonds/notes PaYable $41,269,040

$2,265,285

$2,723,623

Balance 1/1

$45,975,735

Total Bonds/notes PaYable $47,381,559

$276,781

$10,695,688

$359,350

Total

Total $00J56"399 $1L971-7-5i 63-630349) $75J_03j03

Additions

$3,s98,880

$4,362,400

$2,O10,741

$2,451

Additions

s1,977,12O

$2,073,600

$133,942

$1,592,401

$2,332

Reductions

($3,386,e96)

198

($3,585,723)

$o

($44,626)

Reductions

($2,492,671)

Balance 12131

$39,033,430

$42,045,717

$4,276,026

$2,681,448

Balance 12131

$45,460,184

($2,600, I 40)

($20,378)

$o

($4'317)

$46,855,019

$390,345

$'12,288,089

$357,365

6927

t2



F NEXT YEAR'S BUDGETS AND RATES

. In 2023, thetotal net assessed valuation, the amount on which the tax rate for municipal, county and local education tax

is computed is$2344,253,s45. Acitywide assessment occurred in2020 and2022. According to state law' annually, the assessors

* Lebanon Board of Assessors - shall adjust assessments to reflect changes so that all asseisments are reasonably proponional

within the city and that all real estate be reappraised so that assessment ire at full and true value at least as often as every five

years. ()r{ew Hampshire Constitution Part 2 Article 6.)

o An increase in the total net assessed valuation exerts downward pressure on the tax rate; a decrease has the opposite

influence.

o The property tax rate bridges the gap between non-property tax revenues, spending and statutory tax credits and property

assessment abatements. The Total rax Rate is made up of four constituent rut.r, Muni"ipal (general city services), School:

Local, School: State, and County. Appropriations (authorization to spend public moneys) are a legislative act' The Lebanon City

Council is the City,s legislative body; the Lebanon School District annuaf meeting -d Grafton County delegation (comprised of

state representatives froim Grafton County) are the legislative bodies for the school and county'

o The 2023 CiW Budget Municipal Tax Rate (excluding school and County components) is $8.97 per $ I ,000 of assessed

value.

r The tax rate is set (calculated) by the New Hampshire Department of Revenue Administration usually in october' The

first step in calculating the tax rate for each ofthe four tax rate components is to subtract non-property tax revenues. and applied

spendable fund balance from legal appropriations. (In the case of the Municipal rax Rate, a provision for taxes that either will not

be collected (war Service Tax credits) or might noi be collected to varying dlgrees (abatements) is added in') The result, divided

by the Net valuation on which the Tax RatJ for Municipal, county a I-ocal-goucation Tax is computed, is converted to a rate

expressed per $ 1,000 of assessed real estate value. (For ih, ,tut. education tax rate, the result is divided by the Net valuation on

Which Tax Rate for State Education Tax is Computed.) The Ciry Budget concerns the Municipal Tax Rate only'

How the Amount to Be Raised by property Taxes is distributed is determined by property values that the Lebanon Board of

Assessors must ensure by law are reasonably proportional within the city and that ail taxable property was appraised to the best

of the Board,s knowledge and belief at its full vaiue, in accordance *ith state appraisal standards. what the amount to be raised

by property taxes consisfs ofis determined through the city, school, state and county budget processes'

Tax bills are mailed on or around June 1 and November 1 each year, with interest accruing at arate of 8% on bills outstanding for

more than 30 days. within l g months of the date assessed (Aprii l), the Tax collector placis a lien on properties for all uncollected

property taxes. The lien on these properties has priority oveiottrei tiens and accrues interest ar72%oper annum' Ifproperty is not

redeemed (taxes, penalties, and interest) within the 2-year redemption period, the property is tax deeded to the city' The June

billing is considered an estimate only. It is based uy taw on one-half of the prior year's tax rate. The balance of taxes due'

considering current year budget activity, is billed in the fall after the New Hampihire Department of Revenue Administration has

calculated the CitY's tax rate.

property taxes billed and collected by the city include taxes levied for the Lebanon School District and Grafton county, which are

remitted to those govemmental units as required by law. The former is_paid over the course of the year based on a cash requirements

schedule provided by the School District; the latter is paid in December. Both the Lebanon School District and Grafton county

receive their respective assessment no mafter what may ffanspire respecting abatement activity and outcomes as ultimate

responsibility for the collection of taxes rests with the City'

t Landfitt Fees: The tipping fee for 2022was $76'50/ton'

c WaterandSewerserviceFees: The2022CityBudgetprovidedanincreaseofs.0%towaterservicerates(baseuserrate
and minimum charge) approved by the City council (b.".ttiu"i 1,2021) effective |anuary },2022. Water 0-1200 rate is $3'77

per l00CF, > 1200, the iut" ir $2. j+ per 1 obCE for water. There are also fixed charges for the size of the meter'

The 2022 city Budget provides an increase of i.2yoto sewer service rates (base Llser rate, minimum charge, and residential flat

rate)approvedbythecityCouncil(December 1,2)2|)effectiveJanuary t,ioZZ. Sewerrateis$11.18per100CF'Therearealso
fixed charges for the size of the meter.
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The long-term objective of a rate increase is to moderate future service rate increases by accumulating resources in advance as

spendable fund balance sufficient for the water Treatment and Distribution Fund and Sewage collection and Disposal Fund to

absorb projected operation and maintenance and debt service expenses over the next six-years (2023 - 2028)' The intent is to

balance recognition of future potential financial obligations and tire ramifications of those obligations on future service rates and

the fiscal integrity and soundness of the f.rna Uy uJo?ting meaningful interim rate adjustments' The combined Sewer overflow

Separation "uiitui 
project has been and will continue to be a financial strain on both funds'

c Labor Force Composition: The2022ciry Budget had 187.9 active full-time equivalent (FTE) positions (176 full-time;

12regularpart-time positions excluding seasonal und o""u'rional employees and call firefrghters). 121'00 positions,or 64'4oh'are

represented by one of four unions. poiitions may be occupied or vacant, funded, or unfunded' Positions are required to have an

approved budget before they can be filled.

Fund

General

Solid \Ahste Disposal
\A/ater Treatrnent & Distribution

Sewage Colleclion and DisPosal

Mu!!cjpgl Arpg{1

Emergency Management
proEments

Fnud

TIFD

TIFD

2022 Budgel
36,891 ,120

4,206,450

4,'141,290

7,264Q30
1J1e, lo

35,090
16,365340

400

385,700

$

$

$
$

$

$
$

$

$

758

o The General Fund is 52.14% of the 2022 City Budget; Solid Waste Disposal Fund 5'94Vo; Water Treatment and

Disribution Fund 5.g5%; Sewage collection und oirporuipundlo.zlN; Municipal Airport Fund 2.09%: Emergency Management

Fund 0.047o, Capital Improvements Fund 23.13Yo; and Downtown TIFD '55%'

o The operations and maintenance budget (excluding capital improvements, debt service' and interfund transfers) is 55'85%

of the Cify Budget or $39,517,685.

r The 2022 CapitalBudget of $16,365,340 is comprised of rwenty (20) projects and^four sources of financing' Projects

include Infrastructure ($13,051,090), Vehicles and Equipment (S1,28;,dSOj''Ritport Infrastructure ($l'775'000) and Other

($255,000). others consist oithe Lebanon co-fl"te streetsiuutti-Modal-Plan ($zo,obo) and Property Acquisition - 226Mascoma

Street ($235,000).

o The 2022 CityBudget provided revenues of $67,686,969, an increase of $7,351,748 ftom2021 ' The General Fund makes

up 50.g% of total revenues; Capital Improvements Fund 24.2%; Sewage Collection andDisposal Fund 10'8%; Solid Waste

Disposal Fund 6.0%; wate, ir.ui.ent and Distribution Fund 6.2Yo;MuniJipal Airport Fund 1.4%; Emergency Management Fund

>.04o/o; and TIFD .56%'

o 2022 Budget surplus is$2,528,461, an increase of $735,621 from2021'

G. REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the finances of

the city of Lebanon. euestions conceming any of the information provided'in this ieport, or requests for additional information'

should be addressed to the Finance Director, City Hall, 51 North Park Street, Lebanon, New Hampshite 03766'

t4

E)penditures by Funclion

Capital lmproEments
Community Dewlopment & Presen ation

CommunitySeruies

2022 Budget
16,365,340

6A1 ,720
2,492,660

e,979,850

9,789,395
554,900

. 41999ro7q

4r904,q !0
1188q,839

6,039,130

1Jla,750

Regources

Debt Sefrice
Gg!gral GgEmm_qn!

H!m_a.rl Sgrvicgs

lnterfund Transfers

Municipal Sefri99s

Public SaJety

Sanitation
Transportation
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EXHIBITA
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2022

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investrnents
Taxes receivables (net)

Account receivables (net)

Intergovernmental receivable
Leases receivable
Intemal balances
Prepaid items
Capital assets:

Land and construction in progress

Other capital assets, net of depreciation
Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Amounts related to pensions

Amounts related to other postemployment benefrts

Total deferred outflows of resources

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Retainage payable

Conhacts payable
Accrued interest payable
Intergovernmental payable
Escrow and performance deposits

Long-term liabilities :

Due within one year
Due in more than one year

Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable revenue - Grants received in advance

Debt forgiveness
Deferred revenue
Amounts related to leases

Amounts related to pensions

Amounts related to other postemployment benefits

Total deferred inflows of resources

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets

Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net position

$$ 35,265,179
2,912,969

2,859,016
526,250

547,283

241,493
399,457

16,783,654

99,068,865
158,604,166

t5,223,629
10,979,394

1,416,225

6,298,927

1,762,435
(24r,493)

120,766

50,488,808
13,892,363

2,859,016
1,942,475

6,846,2r0
t,762,435

$

520,223

t5,234,252 32,017,906

t00,259.796 199,328,661

151,053,931 309,6s8,097

4,836,888

260,307

498,930
39,031

5,335,818
299.338

.195 537.961 5.635.156

807,337
462,737

621,839

693,411
16,689,856

105,490

548,69r
326,649
155493
705,635

226,955

1,356,028
789,386
777,332

1,399,046

16,689,856

332,M5

8,020,056

129.666,868
3,930,182

71,173,621

4,089,874
58,493,247

94.484.473 9,546,544 159.031.017

1,210,321

1,797,538 3,599,237
232,228

1,761,106

47,809
78-912

1,210,321

5,396,775

232,228
1,761,106

511,290
504,881

463,481

425,969

73,806,802
2,740,384

(n,227,607)

$ 6s.319.s79 $ 8 1-326-056

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
l5

3.897,309 5,719,292 9,616,601

142,M5,83r
4,464,101
(2&,297)

s 146,&5,63s:

68,639,029
1,723,717

10.963.310



EXHIBIT B
CITY OF LEBANON, NEIY HAMPSHIRE

State me nt of A ctiv ilies
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 3I 2022

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and

Chanee inNet PositionCharges
for

Services

Operating
Grants and

Contributions
Governmental

Activities
Business-type

Activitbs

Capital
Cirants and

Conhibutions

37,616
228,2t2
142,087 322,860

235,746
25,743
14,043

1.148.872 444,034

1.832.319 't66.894

94,654

r0,537
2.733.663
2.838.854
4.671.173 $ 766,894

$$

i
CD

z.
oo
o
(D

c!g)0
o

FD

o

a
O)
(D

^(D
@
o)!
@

(D
oa:
4

+)

o
@

(D

(D

n

Gove rnmental activities :

General govemment
Public safety
Highways and streets

Welfare
Culfure and recreation
Conservation
Interest on long-term debt
Capital outlay

Total govemmental activities

Business-type activities :

Sewage collection and disposal

Solid waste disposal

Water treatnent and distribution
Munic[al airport

Total business-type activities
Total

$ $ $

Expenses

10,380,202
13,128,482

6,908,497
636,606

3,421,677
66,7s3

r,163,263

35.705.480

5,823,398

3,960,224
2,913,3r9
2.492,350

3 16,1 83

t,510972

336,386

2.163,541

7,760,324
3,805,857

3,997,828
738,418

(10,026,403)
(l 1,389,298)
(6443,s50)

(636,606)
(2,849,545)

(41,010)
(r,149,220)
1.592-906

(30,942,726\

(30942,726)

Total

(10,026,403)
(l 1,389,298)

(6,443,550)
(636,606)

(2,849,s45)
(4r,010)

(1,149,220)

L592.%6
(30.942.726)

2,031,580
(154,367)

1,095,046
979.731

3.951.990
(26.990.736\

2,031,580
(1s4,367)

1,095,046
979.731

3,951,990
3,951,990

52,504
1,299,@7

672.34s\
679,806

0.996.272\
(1.316,466',)

2,635,s24
78.690.s32

$ $

15.r89.291 16.302,427

s s0,894,771 $ 18,465968 $

General revenues:
Taxes:

Property
Other

Motor vehicle permit fees
Licerses and other fees

Grants and contribtrtions not restricted to specific programs

Unrestricted investrnent eamings
Miscellaneous
Unrealized loss on investrnents

Total general revenues
Contributions to permanent fi.mds

Transfers
Total general revenues, conffibutions, and transfers

Change in net position
Net position, be ginning
Net position, ending

23931,488
2,027,626
2,769,382
1,101,994

rA87,249
s77232
146,552

(366-678\

23,931A88
2,027,06
2,769382
1,t01,994
1,487,249

629,736
1,446,199

(1,039,023)

31.674,845
5,350

r996.272
33.676A67
2J33,741

62.585.838

32,354,651
5,350

32.360.001
5,369,26s

141,276,370

$ 65,319,579 $ 81,326,056 $ t46,&5,635



EXHIBIT C.I
CITY OF LEBANON, NEIY HAMPSHIRE

Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet

December 3I 2022

General
Capital

Improvements

Other
Governmental

Funds

Total
Govemmental

Funds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investrnents
Receivables, net of allowance for uncollectible

Taxes
Accounts
Intergovernmental

Interfund receivable
Voluntary tax liens

Volturtary tax liens reserved until collected
Prepaid items
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Retainage payable
Contracts payable
Intergovemmental payable
Interfund payable
Escrow and performance deposits

Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable revenue - Property taxes
[]navailable revenue - Grants received in advance

Total deferred inflows of resources

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT)
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned (deficit)

Total fund balances (deftcit)

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, and fund balances

$ 36,100,119 $ 1.050,458 -$--12%,4s2-

$ 28,688,102
11,749

3,009,016
479,377

38,491

292,633
9,804

(9,804)

389,4s7

3,009,016
496,t94
38,491

297,667
9,804

(9,804)

399457

$ 1,040,458 $

r0,000

3,670,035

1,606,s66

t6,817

5,034

33,398,595
1,618,315

$

1,866,584

1,294,654

30.056

1,866,584

1,294,654
30.056

$ 42.M9.029

$ $789,741
20,663 M2,074

621,839
16,689,856

5,034

105,490

$ 17,596 $

51,140

807,337

462,737
621,839

16,689,856

56,174
105,490

17.610.784 1,063,913 68.736 18.743.433

777,155
t,2t0,3Lt

777,155
t,210,321

t.987.476 1.987.476

389,457
25,000

2,670,823
2,501,289

10.915,290

10,000

(23,4ss)
fi3-455)

t,646,815
1,068,569

2,514,332

2,046,272

1,093,569

5,185,155

2,501,289
10.891.835

16,501,859 5.229.716 2 t20

$ 36,100,119 $ t.050-458

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
l7

$ 5,298,452 $ 42.449.029



EXHIBIT C-2
CITY OF LEBANON, NEIY HAMPSHIRE

Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds lo the Statemenl of Net Position
December 31 2022

Amounts reported for govemmental activities in the Statement of Net
Position are different because:

Total frmd balances of governmental funds (Exhibit C-l)

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current flrrancial resources,

therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds.

Cost
Less accumulated dePreciation

$ 163,969,993

48.|7"474\

4,836,888
(463481)
260,307

(425,969)

$ 21,718,120

1 15,852,519

4,207,745

777,155

(1s0,000)

508,'192

(693,411)

(76,901,34r)

$ 6s.3t9.579

Pension and other postemployment benefrt (oPEB) related deferred oufflows of
resources and defened inflows of resources are not due and payable in the current

year, and therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds as follows:
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions

Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions

Deferred outflows of resources re lated to OPEB
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB

Interfund receivables and payables between governmental funds are

eliminated on the Statement of Net Position.
Receivables
Payables

Long-term revenue (taxes) is not available to pay current-period expenditures,

and therefore, is defened in the govemmental funds.

Allowance for uncollectible property taxes that is recognized on a full accrual basis,

but not on the modifred accrual basis.

Long-term assets (State aid receivable) are not available to pay for current-period

expenditures and therefore, are not reported in the govemmental furds.

Interest on long-term debt is not accrued in governmental funds.
Accrued interest payable

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period"

therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds.

Bonds
Notes
Unamortized bond premium/debt forgiveness

Compensated absences

Net pension liability
Other postemployment benefrts

Net position of govemmental activities (Exhibit A)

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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$

$ (s6,174)
56,174

$ 30,122,9s2
8,910,478
4,809,825
4,276,026

26,100,612
2.681.M8



EXHIBIT C-3
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Governmental Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

For the Fiscal Yeu Ended December 31, 2022

General
Capital

Improvements

Other
Governmental

Funds

Total
Govemmental

Funds

REVENUES
Taxes
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Miscellaneous
Unrealized loss on investrnents

Total revenues

E)(PENDITURES
Current:

General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Welfare
Cufture and recreation
Conservation

Debt service:
Principal
Interest

Capital outlay
Total expenditwes

Excess (dehciency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures

orHER FTNANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in
Transfers out
Bond/note proceeds

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balances, begirming
Fund balances, ending

$ 24,960,77s

3,871,376

2,520,',l51

1,794,706

782,597
(79,241)

33,850,964

9,962,049
11,795,291

5,437,581
s43136

2,5&,264
47,559

2,246
368,835

392,237
(287,431I

$ $ 728,558 $ 25,689,333
3,871,376

3,668,425
2,163,541
1,178,278
(366,678)

1,145,428

3,444

t.t48.872 36.204.275

3,509,515
1,312,788

433,354 3.956.239

9,962

217,275

377,719

9,972,011
12,012,566
5,437,581

543,436
2,941,983

47,559

3,509,515
1,312,788

4.389.s93

35,605,837 3.956,239 604,956

.367\ 599,483

40.167.032

(1,754,873) (3,962,751I

1,882,286
(1,109,8e0)

1,69s,176

4.362.400

154,884
(626,184)

3,732,346
(1,736,074)
4,362,400

(e82477)
17.484.336

3,250,209
(3263,664L

'772.396 6,05',7,576 471

128,183

101.533

6.358,672

5

2,395,915
19.322,205

$ r6-501.859 $

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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EXHIBIT C-4
CITY OF LEBANON, NEIY HAMPSHIRE

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activilies

For lhe Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2022

Net change in fund balances of governmental funds (Exhibit C-3)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures, while governmental activities
report depreciation expense to allocate those expenditures over the life ofthe
assets. Capital outlay expenditures exceeded depreciation expense in the
current year, as follows:

Capitalized capital outlay
Disposal of capital assets
Depreciation expense

Transfers in and out between governmental funds are eliminated
on the Statement of Activities.

Transfers in
Transfers out

Revenue in the Statement of Activities that does not provide current financial
resources is not reported as revenue in the governmental funds.

Change in deferred tax revenue
Decrease in deferred aid revenue

Bond and other debt proceeds provide current financial rgsources to governmental funds,

but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.
Repayment of bond and other debt principal is an expenditure in the
governmental funds, but repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the
Statement of Net Position. Also, governmental funds report the effect of
premiums and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are

deferred and amortized in the Statement of Activities.
Proceeds ofdebt
Bond premium on new issuance
Recognition of principal forgiveness
Repayment of bond principal
Repayment of note/loan principal
Amortization of bond premium

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current
financial resources, and therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.

Increase in accrued interest expense
Decrease in prepaid items
Increase in compensated absences
Net change in net pension liability and deferred outflows and inflows of

resources related to pensions
Net change in net other postemployment benefits liability and deferred

outflows and inflows of resources related to other postemployment benefits

Changes in net position of governmental activities (Exhibit B)

$ 5,419,898
(3,468)

(3,318,276)

$ (1,736,074)
I,736"074

$ 269,781
(3 l. r 07)

$ (3,ee8,880)
(363,520)

20,860
2,956,844

430,t52
t98.727

$ (2e1,893)
351,281

(2,0t0,741)

$ 2,395,915

2,098,r54

238,674

(7s5,817)

(1,243, l 85)

546,755

16t.413

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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EXHIBIT D
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Stalement ofRevenaes, Expendilures, and Changes in Fund Balance
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis)

General Fund
For lhe Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2022

25,086,890

3,078,400
1,935,509

t,66r,690
472.350

25,086,890

3,078,400

1,935,509

1,661,690

472.350

$ 25,230,556
3,871,376
1,939,619

1,794,706

522,0W
33.358,259

Variance
Positive

(Negative)

143,666

792,976
4,1 l0

133,016
49-652

1,123A20

Budeeted Amounts
Final Actual

REVENUES
Taxes
Licenses and permits

Intergovemmental
Charges for services
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

E>(PENDITURES
Current:

General govemment
Public safety
Highways and streets
Welfare
Culture and recreation
Conservation

Debt service:
Principal
Interest

Total expenditwes

Excess (defrciency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures

OTHER FTNANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in

Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances

Decrease in nonspendable fund balance
Increase in assigned fund balance (non-encumbrance)

Unassigned fund balance, beginning
Unassigned fund balance, ending

35,060,830 35.060,830

(2,825,9et) (2,82t,eet) (326,78s)

2,131,3',t0 2,t31,370 2,160,625
(3,15529E (3,155,290)

301,080 (994,665)

29,255

29,255

(1,32r,450) _$___2$,q61_
322,551

(M7,szr)
12.988.865

$ 11.542.M5

$ s s

32,234,839 32.234.839

10,M6,160
12,128,830

4,581,920
554,900

2,500,160
10,870

3,515,170

1.322.820

10,446,160

12,128,830
4,581,920

554900
2,500,160

10,870

3,515,170

1,322,820

9,691,189
11,560,696

4,552,353
543,436

2,504,198
r0,869

3,509,515
1,312,788

33,685,0M 1,375,786

754,971
568,134

29,567

11,464
(4,038)

I

5,655

10.032

J___p,s24grD_ $ l)

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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EXHIBIT E-I
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Proprietary Funds
Statement of Nel Position

December 31,2022

Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Sewage
Collection

and Disposal

Solid
Waste

Disposal

Water
Treatment and
Distribution

Municipal
Airport Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables:

Accounts
Intergovernmental
Leases

Prepaid items
Capital assets:

Land and construction in progress
Other capital assets, net of depreciation

Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Amounts related to pensions
Amounts related to other

postemployment benefits
Total deferred outfl ows of resources

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable
Retainage payable
Contract payable
Accrued interest payable
Internal balances
Escrow and performance deposits

Long-term liabilities:
Due within one year
Due in more than one year

Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Debt forgiveness
Deferred revenue
Amounts related to leases
Amounts related to pensions
Amounts related to other

postemployment benefits
Total deferred inflows ofresources

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net position

$ 6,642,940 $
744,654

579,421
4,441,571

9,012

2,682,807
9,347,550

388,428

5,249

4,437,365
9,204,717

$ 5,897,882 $
868,1 I 5

132,675
38r,594

11,352

3 l 5,701
1,475,762
1,762,435

95, I 53

$ 15,223,629
t0,979,394

1,416,225
6,298,927
1,762,435

120,766

15,234,252
100,259,796

19,075

4,652,831
s2,993,963

3,563,689
28,266,703

2,580,367
9,794,413

70,064,392 26,066,116 39,122,010 16,042,906 151,295,424

t6t,987

1 3,1 98

r35,312

t0,02r

126,986

I 0,133

74,645

5.679

498,930

39,03 r

1 75,1 85 145,333 l37,ltg 80.324 s37,961

24t,993
90,87 1

47,634
350, l 80

212,305

2,248,141

28,666

72,840
49,819

85,723
105,342
35,0r 9

2'18,502

192,309
t30,436

27,134
241,493

14,650

67,678
'189.146

548,691
326,649
155,493
705,635
241,493
226,955

11 744.729
541,593

I 3,587,198
1,232,462

16,3',t2,r74
4,089,874

58,493,247
30,935,853 t4,280,116 18,109,222 64,',|88,037

r,590,883

15,522 12,966

232,228
1,761,106

7,153

3,599,237
232,228

1,761,106
47,809t2,168

20,656

6,605 2,001,749

27 131 l9 781 11.344 78,912
1,633,536 39,352 2,034,573 I 1.831 5,719,2922,0

28,829,882
145,036

12,692,843

(800,862)

15,044,274
1,367,90r
2,703,159

12,072,030
210,780
365,'743

68,639,029
1,723,',n'l

8,695 .270 10,963.310

$ 37,670,188 $ r1,89r,981 $ 19,115,334 $ 12,648,5s3

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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EXHIBIT E-2
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Proprietary Fund
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

For lhe Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2022

Business- tvoe Activities
Entemrise Fwrds

Sewage
Collection

and Disposal

Solid
Waste

Disposal

Water
Treatment and

Distrfoution
Municipal

Total

Operating revenues:
User charges
Other sales

Fees and interest
Intergovemmental revenues
Miscellaneous

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:

Salaries and wages
Operation and maintenance
Contractual services
Materials and supplies

Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

Operating gain

Nonoperating revenue (expense) :

Interest income
Interest expense

Change in fah market value
Investment fees

Total nonoperating revenue (expense)

Other flinancing sources (uses):
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total other frnancing sources (uses)

Change in net position
Net position, be ginning
Net position, ending

7,760,324 $ 3,805,857 $ 3,995,478 $

- 474,810

- 2,350
94,654

I19,030 133-605

10,537

83,390

738,418-

2,733,663
488-812

$ 16,300,077

474,810

2,350
2,838,854

824.837

4A16,622 4,089,405 3,960,893

1,077,410

2,182,462

158,167

495,084
t39

9t7,9ll
1,37t,028

618,519
314,105
709,335

879,231
149,209

1t7,626
529,817
822.567

612,947
833,697

75,818

269,873
669,168

3487,499
4,s36,396

970,130
r,608,879

5,345,262 2A98,450 2,461.503 14,236,|3

2,628,746 485.724 1,590,955 6,204,815

20,997
(476,673)

(40,091)
(1,463)

12,039
(8,779)

(565,752)
(20.547\

19,468
(4r4,869)
(6sA75)

(30,807)
(r,027)

(40)

52,504
(931,128)
(672,34s)
(22,050)

497.230) (583,039)( (31,874) (1,573,019)

175) (1,170,M7)
(1,170,M7)

250,920
(316,345) (86,22s)

(86.225\

250,920
(2,247,r92)

(674,17s) (6s,42s) (r,996,272)

1,457,341

36,212,847

(1,267,762) r,0&,654 1,381,291

11,267,262

2,635,524
't8,690,53213,159,743 18,050,680

$ 37,670,188 $ ll .981 $ l9,l15,334 _s__12,64q:IL $ 81,326,056

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral pan of this statement.
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EXHIBIT E-3
CITY OF LEBANON, NEI.YHAMPSHIRE

Proprietary Fund
Statement of Cash Flows

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 3l 2022

Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Sewage
Collection

and Disposal

Solid
Waste

Disposal

Water
Treatment and
Distribution

Municipal
Airport Total

$ 19,096,765
(3,424,720)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers and users
Payments to employees
Payments to suppliers

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
State revolving loan proceeds
Bond and bond premium proceeds
Principal paid on bonds
Acquisition and construction of fixed assets

Interest paid
Net cash used for capital and related financing activities

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities:
Intergovernmental revenues
Operating transfers in
Operating transfers out

Net cash provided by (used for) non-capital financing
activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investments
Interest received

Net cash used for investing activities

Net increase/decrease in cash
Cash, beginning
Cash, ending

Operating gain

Adjustments to reconcile operating gain to net
cash used by operating activities:

Depreciation expense
Increase in other receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in intergovemmental receivables
Increase in prepaid items
Increase in deferred outflows related to pensions
Increase in deferred outflows related to OPEB
Increase/(Decrease) in accounts payable
Increase/@ecrease) in retainage payable
Increase in contracts payable
Decrease in escrow deposits
Increase/(Decrease) in compensated absences
Increase in accrued lanfill closure and postclosure care costs
Increase in net pension liability
Increase/(Decrease) in OPEB
Decrease in deferred assessments
Decrease in defered inflows related to pensions
Decrease in defened inflows related to OPEB

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by operating activities

$ 7,703,392
(e77,703)

(2,640,103)
4,085,586

$ 4.413,764
(923,781)
(7s2,904)

2,737,079

$ 4,010,363
(912,26s)
(769,08 l)

s 2,969,246
(610,971)
(969,649) (5. 131.737\

2,329,017 1,388,626 10,540,308

160,675
480,000

(972,515)
(647,s34)
(802,03e)

(295,000)
(4,6s0,223)

(22,027)
(4,967,2s0)

160,675
480,000

(934,720)
(407,084)
(s2t,s6s)

66,s'r9)
(2,049,r97)

(17,234)

321,350
960,000

(2,268,814)
('1,754,038)
(1,362,86s)

( 10, l 04,367)(r,78t,413) (1 (2,1 33,0 1 0)

328,055

(674,17s)

11,224

1',l0.447\

33,867
250,920

(316,34s)
241,493
(86,225)

373,146
492,413

0, (2.247.t92\

(346,120) (1,1s9,223) (31,558) 155.268 ( 1,38 r,633)

20.997
(46e,5s0)

12,039
(se,485)
19,468

(40,0 l 7)

1,034,748
4,863,t34

(529,03s)
s2,504

(476,s31)

(1,422,223)
16,645,8s2

$ 15,223,629

20.997 (4s'7,str)

$ 6.642,940 $ 2,682,807 $ 5,897,882

Reconciliation of Operating Gain to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

$ 2,628,746 $ 485.724 $ I ,590,95s $ 1,499,390 $

1,979,050 (3,846,90s)
6,529,712

(589,1 16)
589,1 16

$

815

t,432,139
(474,2t6)
233,401

(1,275)
(20,273)
(2,s37)

167,485
(4,3s8)
33,758
(r,4s7)
79,839

709,335
(l 4,082)
tl,224

(6e2)
(7, l 3o)
(1,65 l)

(64,3 I 8)
(26,978)
50,335

( l 65,89 r)
(3.356)

822,567
(102,372)

23,330
( 1,308)

(10,570)
(1,81 1)

29,603
(14,504)
13,780

669,t68
(242,0s8)
(e30,59 1)

(33,447)
(3.26e)

(e30)
112,750
130,436

(423)
24,937

3,633,209
(832,728)
(662,636)

(36,722)
(41,242)
(6,929)

245,520
84,596
97,873
(1,880)

t13,564
1,592,401

603,317
(1,98s)

153,08 I
(590,82 l)
(r3,125)

4,335,493

227,296
2,034

(28,344)
(182,21'7)

(4,435)

29,166
1,592,401

145,1t3
(2,121)

(20,378)

I 53,889
(473)

77,019
(r,42s)

181,425
(92,44t)

(1,915)
(1s0,272)

(3,419)
t,456,840 2,251,355 738,062 (110,764)

$ 4,085,s86 $ 2,737,079 s 2,329,017 $ 1,388,626 $ I

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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EXHIBIT F-L
CITY OF LEBANON, NEIry HAMPSHIRE

Fiduciary Funds
Slatement of Net Posilion

December 31, 2022

Private
Purpose

Trust

All
Custodial

Funds Total
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Intergovernmental

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Intergovernmental payable

NET POSITION
Unrestricted

$ $ $74,505
1,556,972

634,822
3482,86s

709,327

5,039,837

16,163,703t6,163.703

1,631,477 20,281,390 21,912,867

16,425,M| t6,425A41

$ 1,631,477 _$.___185ff4e_ s s,487,426

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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EXHIBIT F-2
CITY OF LEBANON, NEIYHAMPSHIRE

Fiduciary Funds
Statement of Changes in Net Position

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 3l 2022

Private
Purpose

Trust

All
Custodial

Funds Total

ADDITIONS
Contributions
Investment earnings
Tax collections for other govemments

State fees collected
Total additions

DEDUCTIONS
Benefrts paid
Change in fair market value
Administrative expenses
Payments of taxes to other govemments

Payments ofState fees
Total deductions

Change in net position
Net position, be ginning
Net position, ending

321,681 40,786,980

$ $ $9,747

33,324
60,440
42,897

39,333,204
820,810

70,187

76,221

39,333,204
820,810

43,071 40,257,351

31,752
280,751

9,178
218,&9
414,317

39,333,204
820,810

31,752

499,400
423,495

39,333,204
820.810

4l,t08.661

(278,6t0)
1,910,087

(529,629) (808,239)

_$ 5,487,426_
4,385,578

s t,631,477 $

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,2022

NOTE 1 _ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the City of Lebanon, New Hampshire (the City), have been prepared in conformity with U.S.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for governmental units as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) and other authoritative sources.

The more significant of the City's accounting policies are described below.

1-A Reporting Entity
The City of Lebanon is a municipal corporation governed by an elected City Council. In evaluating how to define the City for
financial reporting pu{poses, ma-nagement has considered all potential component units. The decision to include a potential

component unit in ttre reporting entity is made by applying the criteria set forth by the GASB. The City has no component units

to include in its reporting entity.

I-B Basis of Accounting, and Measurement Focus

The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a separate accounting entity. The

operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, deferred

outflo*r of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures or expenses' as

appropriate. Governmental resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which
they are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled.

Government-wide Finsncial Statemenls - The City's government-wide financial statements include a Statement of Net Position

and a Statement of Activities. These statements present summaries of governmental and business-type activities for the City
accompanied by a total column. Fiduciary activities of the City are not included in these statements.

These statements are presented on an "economic resources" measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.

Accordingly, all of the City's assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources, including
capital asieis and long-term liabilities, are included in the accompanying Statement of Net Position. The Statement of Activities
presents changes in nit position. Under the accrual basis ofaccounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are

earned while ixpens., ir" r."ognized in the period in which the liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash

flows. The types of transactions reported as progra- revenues for the City are reported in three categories: l) charges for
services, 2) operating grants and conhibutions, and 3) capital grants and contributions.

Certain eliminations have been made to interfund activities, payables, and receivables. All internal balances in the Statement of
Net position have been eliminated except those representing balances between the governmental activities and the business-type

activities, which are presented as internal balances and eliminated in the total primary government column.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements - Include a Balance Sheet and a Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes

in Fund Balances for all major governmental funds and nonmajor funds aggregated. An accompanying statement is presented to
reconcile and explain the differinces in fund balances and changes in fund balances as presented in these statements to the net

position and changes in net position presented in the govemment-wide financial statements. The City has presented all major
iunds that met thoie qualifications. In addition, the City has presented the capital improvements fund as a major fund because

the City believes the financial position and activities of this fund are significant to the City as a whole.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current Jinancial resources measurement focus and the modiJied

accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are

considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the

current period. For this purpose, the City generally considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the

end of the current fiscaiperiod, with the exception of reimbursement-based grants, which use a period of one year. Property

taxes, licenses, and permiis, intergovernmental revenue, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to
be susceptible to aCcrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. Expenditure-driven grants are

recognizld as revenue when the qualifying 
"*penditu."r 

have been incurred and all other grant requirements have been met. All
othei revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government.
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Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service

expenditures, is well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when

payment is due.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund - is the City's primary operating fund. The general fund accounts for all financial resources except those

required to be accounted for in-another fund. The primary revenue sources include property taxes, State grants, and motor

u.hi"1" permit fees. The primary expenditures ure fot general govemment, public safety, highways and streets, welfare,
culture and recreation, and debt sirvici. Under GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Bqlance Reporting and Governmental Fund
Type De/initions guidance, the expendable trust, grants, emergency management, Heritage, restricted, Community
Development Block Grant, and American Rescue Plan Act funds are consolidated in the general fund'

Capital Improvements Fund - accounts for activity pertaining to multiple construction and renovation projects that are not

reported in other funds.

Additionally, the City reports the following fund types:

Special Revenue Funds - are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally restricted to

expenditures for specifi ed purposes.

permanent Funds - are held in the custody of the Trustees of Trust Funds and are used to account for resources held in
trust for use by the City. These can include legal trusts for which the interest on the corpus provides funds for the City's
cemetery operations.

All the governmental funds not meeting the criteria established for major funds are presented in the other governmental column

of the fund financial statements. The City reports twelve nonmajor govemmental funds.

proprietary Fund Financial Statemenls - Include a Statement of Net Position, a Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and

Changes in Net Position, and a Statement of Cash Flows for each major proprietary fund.

proprietary funds are reported using the "economic resources" measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.

eciordingly, all assets, defened out-flo*r of resources, liabilities (whether current or noncurrent), and deferred inflows of
,esources-ui" included on the Statement of Net Position. The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
presents increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in total net position. Under the accrual basis ofaccounting, revenues are

iecognized in the period in which they are ea-id while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred,

regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

Operating revenues in the proprietary funds are those revenues that are generated from the primary operations_ of the fund. All
other revenues are report"i ur non-operating revenues. Operating expenses are those expenses that are essential to the primary

operations of the fund. All other expenses are reported as non-operating expenses.

The City reports the following major proprietary funds:

Sewage Collection and Disposal Fund - accounts for the operation of the wastewater treatment plant and the maintenance

and replacement of the wastewater collection system and pump stations.

Solid Waste Disposal Fund - accounts for the operation and maintenance of the landfill, recycling facilities, and hazardous

waste processing.

Water Treatment and Distribution Fund - accounts for the operation of the water treatment facilities, maintenance, and

replacement of distribution system, water tanks, and pump stations.

Municipal Airport Fund - accounts for the operation and maintenance of the Lebanon Municipal Airport.

Fiduciury Fund Financial Slalemenls - Include a Statement of Fiduciary Net Position and a Statement of Changes in Fiduciary

Net posiiion. The City's fiduciary funds are private purpose trust and custodial funds, which are custodial in nature. These

funds are accounted for on a sp"ndi.rg, or "economic resources" measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are

the proprietary funds explained above.
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The City reports the following fiduciary funds:

private purpose Trust Fund - is used to report trust arrangements, other than pension and investment trusts, under which

principal and income benefit individuals, private organizations, or other governments.

Custodial Fund - is custodial in nature and do not belong to the primary government. A custodial fund is used to account

for assets held on behalf of outside parties, including other governments.

L-C Cash and Cash Equivalents

The City considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Deposits with financiat infitutions consist primarily of demand deposits and savings accounts. A cash pool is maintained that is

uuuilubl. for use by all funds. Each fund's portion of this pool is reflected on the combined financial statements under the

caption "cash and cash equivalents."

The treasurer is required to deposit such moneys in solvent banks in state or the Public Deposit Investment Pool pursuant to New

HampshireRSA3g3:22. Fundsmaybedepositedinbanksoutsideofthestateifsuchbankspledgeanddelivertoathirdparty
custodial bank or the Federal Reserve Bank, collateral security for such deposits, United States government or government

agency obligations, or obligations to the State of New Hampshire in value at least equal to the amount of the deposit in each

case.

I-D Restricted Assets

Certain City assets are classified as restricted assets because their use is restricted by statutory limitation and./or they are

earmarked for a specific purpose.

I-E Statement of Cash Flows

For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the Cify considers all highly liquid investments (including restricted assets) with a

maturity when purchased of three months or less and all local government investment pools to be cash equivalents.

[-F Investments

State statutes place certain limitations on the nature of deposits and investments available as follows:

New Hampshire law authorizes the City to invest in the following type of obligations:
. Obligations of the United States government,
. The public deposit investment pool established pursuant to RSA 383:22,

' Savings bank dePosits,
. Certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements of banks incorporated under the laws of the State of New

Hampshire or in banks recognized by the State treasurer.

Any person who directly or indirectly receives any such funds or moneys for deposit or for investment in securities of any kind
shail, prior to acceptance of such funds, make uniilubl" at the time of such deposit or investment an option to have such funds

,..ui"a by collateial having a value at least equal to the amount of such funds. Such collateral shall be segregated for the

exclusive benefit of the City. Only securities defined by the bank commissioner as provided by rules adopted pursuant to

RSA 386:57 shall be eligible to be pledged as collateral.

Fair Value lVleasurements of Investments - In accordance with GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and

Application, except for investments measured using net asset value (NAV) as a practical expedient to estimate fair value, the

City 
"utegoiizes 

tire fair value measurements of its investments within the fair vaiue hierarchy established by US GAAP. The

faii value hierarchy categorizes the inputs to valuation techniques used for fair value measurement into three levels as follows:

Level I - Inputs reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the City has

the ability to access at the measurement date.
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Level 2 - Inputs are other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly or
indirectly, inciuding inputs in markits that are not considered to be active. Because they most often are priced on the

basis of transactions involving similar but not identical securities or do not trade with sufficient frequency.

Level 3 - Inputs are significant unobservable inputs, using assumptions in determining the fair value of investments

and derivative instruments.

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level I inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. In certain instances

where the determination of th" fair value ..urJr"-.nt is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy, it is
the level in the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement'

Investments are reported at fair value. If an investment is held directly by the City and an active market with quoted prices

exists, such as for iomestic equity securities, the market price of an identical security is used to report fair value and is classified

in Level l. Corporate fixed income securities and certain govemmental securities utilize pricing that may involve estimation

using similar seiurities or trade dates and are classified in Level 2. Fair values for shares in registered mutual funds and

exchange-traded funds are based on published share prices and classified in Level L

In determining fair value, the City utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use

ofunobservable inputs to the extent possible.

Investments in Certain External lnvestment Pools - In accordance with GASB Statement No. 79, Certain External
Investment pools and pool participants, the City held investments with the New Hampshire Public Deposit Investment Pool
(NHpDIp). The NHpDIp ,n"usur"i all of its investments at amortized cost. There are no redemption restrictions and shares may

be redeemed by the City in accordance with the NHPDIP's Information Statement'

1-G Receivables

Receivables recorded in the financial statements represent amounts due to the City at December 31' They are aggregated into a
single accounts receivable (net of allowance for uncollectibles) line for certain funds and aggregated columns. They consist

primarily of taxes, billing for charges, and other user fees.

I-H Prepaid Items

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items in both
gou"--.nt-*ide and fund financial statements, and expenses/expenditures as the items are used. The nonspendable fund

6alance at the govemmental fund level includes the amount of prepaid items at year-end to indicate the portion of the

govemmental fund balance that is nonspendable'

1-I Capital Assets

Capital assets include property, plant, and equipment, infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar items),

and intangible assets, wtriiir are ieported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-

wide financial statements, and in the proprietary funds. The accounting and reporting fieatment applied to capital assets

associated with a fund are determined bi the fund;s measurement focus. General capital assets are assets of the City as a whole.

When purchased, such assets are recorded as expenditures in a governmental fund and capitalized as assets in the government-

wide Statement of Net position. Capital asseis of the proprietary fund are capitalized in the fund and the cost basis for
proprietary fund capital assets is the same as that used for general capital assets.

Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $10,000 and an estimated useful life
in ixcess of one year. Such assets ire carried at historical cost or estimated historical cost. When the cost of the capital assets

cannot be determined from available records, estimated historical cost is used. Donated capital assets received on or prior to
June I 5, 2015, are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation. Donated capital assets received after June 15,

2015, are recorded at acquisition value.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. The costs of normal maintenance

and repairs itrat do not add to the value ofthe asset or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized.
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Capital assets of the City are depreciated using the shaight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Years
Capital Asset Classes:

Land improvements
Buildings and building improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Lf Inturfund Activities

Interfund activities are reported as follows:

Interfund Receivables and payables - Activity between funds that is representative of lending/borrowing arrangements

outsianding at the end of the fisial year are referred to as 'odue to/from other funds." Any residual balances outstanding between

the governinental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as "internal
balances."

Interfund Transfers - Interfund transfers represent flows of assets without equivalent flows of assets in return and without a

requirement for repayment. In government;l funds, transfers are reported as other financing uses in the funds making the

transfers and othei financing 5,o,i.."t in the funds receiving the transfers. In proprietary funds, transfers are reported after

nonoperating revenues and expenses.

L-K Property Taxes
property tax billings occur semi-annually and are based on the assessed inventory values as of April I of each year._ Warrants for
the'yeai were issrled on June 8,2022: and November 10,2022, and were due on July 31, 2022, and December 31,2022,
respectively. For any regular property taxes issued, the interest accrues at arale of 80% on bills outstanding after the due date and

l4Yo on tax liens outstanding.

In connection with the setting of the tax rate, City officials with the approval of the Department of Revenue Administration,

establish and raise through taiation an amount for tax abatement and refunds, known as overlay. This amount is reported as a

reduction in tax revenue and is adjusted by management for any reserve for uncollectable at year-end. The property taxes

collected by the City include taxes Gvied for the State of New Hampshire, Lebanon School Disffict, and Grafton County, which

are remitted to these entities as required by law.

The City net assessed valuation as of April 7,2l22,utilized in the setting of the tax rate was as follows:

Total assessment valuation with utilities $ 2'737,088'398

Total assessment valuation without utilities S 2'612,602'630

The tax rates and amounts assessed for the year ended December 31,2022, were as follows:

Per $1,000 ProPertY
ofAssessed Taxes
Valuation Assessed

Municipal portion
School portion:

State of New Hampshire
Local

County portion
Total

$ 8.62 s 23,587,399

$

20-30
20 -30
5-25

50

1.14

1r.92
1.36

2,971,751
32,626,612
3,734,841

JJ

23.04 $ 62,920,603
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l-L Accounts Payable

Accounts payable represent the gross amount ofexpenditures or expenses incurred as a result ofnormal operations, but for which
no actual payment has yet been issued to vendors/providers as of December 3l ,2022.

I-M Deferred Outflows/InJlows of Resources

Deferred outflows of resources, a separate financial statement element, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a

future period(s) and thus will not be recognized as an outflow ofresources (expense) until then'

Deferred inflows of resources, a separate financial statement element, represents an acquisition of net position or fund balance

that applies to a future period(s) und to will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. Although

certain revenues are measurabie, they are not available. Available means collected within the current year or expected to be

collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities ofthe current year.

1 -N Compensated Absences

Vacation - The City's policy allows certain employees to earn varying amounts of vacation based on the employee's length of
employment. Upon separation from service, employees are paid in full for any accrued leave earned as set forth by the Cify's
p".ronnel policyor coliective bargaining agreemint. The liability for such leave is reported as incurred in the government-wide

and proprietary fund financial statementi. A tiuUitity for those amounts is recorded in the governmental funds only if the liability
has matured as a result of employee resignations or retirements.

Sick Leave- Benefits are accrued as a liability using the termination payment method. An accrual for earned sick leave is made

to the extent that it is probably the benefits wiil result in termination payments. The liability is based on the City's experience of
making termination payments.

1-O Claims and Jadgments

Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Govemmental Accounting Standards Board

pronouncements are met. Claims and judgments that would normally be liquidated with expendable available financial resources

are recorded during the year as 
"*pendituies 

in the governmental funds. Claims and judgments are recorded in the government-

wide financial statements as an expense when the related liabilities are incurred.

I-P Leases

Lessor- The City is a lessor for several noncancellable leases of airport land and facilities. The City recognizes a lease

receivable and a deferred inflow of resources in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.

At the commencement of a lease, the City initially measures the lease receivable at the present value of payments expected to be

received during the lease term. Subsequently, thJ lease receivable is reduced by the principal portion of lease payments received.

The deferred inflow of resources is initially measured as the initial amount of the lease receivable, adjusted for lease payments

received at or before the lease commencement date. Subsequently, the deferred inflow ofresources is recognized as revenue over

the life of the lease term.

Key estimates and judgments include how the City determines (1) the discount rate it uses to discount the expected lease receipts

to present value, (2) lease term, and (3) lease receipts.

. The City uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for leases.

. The lease term includes the noncancellable period of the lease. Lease receipts included in the measurement of
the lease receivable is composed of fixed payments from the lessee'

The City monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its lease and will remeasure the lease

receivables and deferred inflows of resources if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly affect the amounts of the

lease receivables.
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l-Q Lo ng-term Obligations

In the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as

liabilities in the governmentil aitivities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund Statement of Net Position. Bond premiums

are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and bond issuance costs during the current
period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported
as other financing sources. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as

expenditures.

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, Including Direct Borrowings and Direct
Placements,the City utilizes the following classifications to categorize the frrancial transactions:

Direct Borrowings - financial transactions for a note or a loan where the City negotiates certain terms with a single
lender and are not offered for public sale.

Direct placements - financial transactions for the sale of bonds where the City engages with a single buyer or limited
number of buyers without a public offering.

I-R DeJined Benejit Pension PIan

GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27 and as

amended by GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Dqte, and
GASB Statement No. 82 Pension Issues - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 67, No. 68 and No.73, requires participating

employers to recognize their proportionate share of collective net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources, deferred

inflowi of resourcis, and pension expense, and schedules have been prepared to provide employers with their calculated
proportionate share of these amounts. The collective amounts have been allocated based on employer conhibutions during the

iespective fiscal years. Contributions from employers are recognized when legally due, based on statutory requirements.

The schedules prepared by the New Hampshire Retirement System, and audited by the plan's independent auditors, require
management to-mike a number of estimates and assumptions related to the reported amounts. Due to the inherent nature and

uncertainty of these estimates, actual results could differ, and the differences may be material.

1-S Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions

The City maintains two separate other postemployment benefit plans (OPEB), as follows:

New Hampshire Retirement System Plan - For the purposes of measuring the total other postemployment benefit (OPEB)

liability, deferred outflows of iesources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense' information
about ihe fiduciary net position of the New Hampshire Retirement System OPEB Plan (the Plan) and additions to/deductions
from the plan's fiduciary net position has been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the New Hampshire
Retirement System. por ihis purpose, the plan recognizes benefit payments when due and payable in accordance with the benefit
terms. Investments are reported at fair value, except money market investments and participating interest earning investment
contracts that have a maturity at the time of purchase of one year or less, which are reported at cost.

Singte Employer plan - For purposes of measuring the total OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to OpEB, and OPEB expense, information has been determined based on the City's actuarial report. For this
purpose, benefit payments are recognized when due and payable in accordance with benefit terms'
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1-T Net Position/Fund Balances

Government-wide Statements, Proprietary Funds, and Fiduciary Funds - Equity is classified as net position and displayed in

three components:

Net investment in capital assets - Consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, and reduced by the

outstanding balances o1 uny bonds, notes, or other borrowings that are atffibutable to the acquisition, construction, or
improvement of those asseis. If there are significant unspent related debt proceeds at year-end, the portion of the debt

attributable to the unspent proceeds are not included in the calculation of net investment in capital assets.

Restricted net position - Results when constraints placed on net position use are either externally imposed by a third
party (statutory, bond covenant, or granting agency) or are imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling

iegistation. The City fypically usei restricted assets first, as appropriate opportunities arise, but reserves the right to
selectively defer the use until a further project.

Unrestricted net position - Consists of net position not meeting the definition of the preceding categories.

Unrestricted net position is often subject to constraints imposed by management which can be removed or modified.

Fund Balance Classffications - GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions,
provides more clearly defined fund balance categories to make the nature and extent of the constraints placed on a government's

iund balances more transparent. The following classifications describe the relative sffength of the spending constraints:

Nonspendable - Amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in spendable form (such as prepaid

items); or (b) are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Restricted - Amounts for which constraints have been placed on the use of the resources either (a) externally imposed

by creditors (such as through a debt covenant), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or
(b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Committed - Amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a vote of the City Council. These

amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the legislative body removes or changes the specified use by
taking the same type of action that was employed when the funds were initially committed.

Assigned - Amounts that are constrained by the City's intent to be used for a specific purpose but are neither restricted

nor committed. This intent can be expressed by the City Manager through the budgetary process.

Unassigned - Amounts that are available for any purpose. Positive amounts are reported only in the general fund. The

unassigi-red classification also includes negative residual fund balance of any other governmental fund that cannot be

eliminated by the offsetting of assigned fund balance amounts.

When multiple net position/fund balance classifications are available for use, it is the City's policy to utilize the most restricted

balances first, then the next most restricted balance as needed. When components of unrestricted fund balance are used,

committed fund balance is depleted first followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance is applied last.

It is the goal of the City to maintain an unassigned fund balance of 19% to 24%o of current general fund budgeted expenditure

activity. The City considers a balance of less than lgoh to be a cause for concem and, taking into account factors or

circumstances that may require a higher than normal maximum level of unassigned fund balance, a balance of more than 24o/o as

excessive. An amount in excess o{zqN may be considered to reduce tax levy requirements determined in conjunction with the

annual budget process, as a capital improvement funding component, for reservation to accumulate funding for future capital
improvemeits, or for any legai purpor. deemed appropriate and desirable by the City Council. In the event unassigned fund

balance is less than 15%o, restorative steps shall be taken in the immediate and subsequent fiscal years.

I-U Use of Estimates

The financial statements and related disclosures are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States. Management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, deferred

outflows of resources, liabilities, and defened inflows of resources, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date

of the financial statements, and revenues and expenses during the period reported. These estimates include assessing the

collectability of accounts and taxes receivable, the useful lives and impairment of tangible and intangible capital assets, net
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pension liability, other postemployment benefit liability, deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to both pension and

other postempioyment benefits, and accrued landfiil closure and postclosure care costs, among others. Estimates and

assumptions are ieviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions are reflected in the financial statements in the period they are

determined to be necessary. Actual results could differ from estimates.

NOTE 2 - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

2-A B udgetary Information
General governmental revenues and expenditures accounted for in budgetary funds are controlled by a formal integrated

budgetary- accounting system in accordance with various legal requirements which govern the City's operations. The City
Couicil adopts a buagei for the current year for the general, emergency management, and capital improvement governmental

funds, as *"ll u5 ,"r"ige collection and iisposal, solid waste disposal, water treatment and distribution, and municipal airport
proprietary funds. Exiept as reconciled bilow, the budget was adopted on a basis consistent with U.S. generally accepted

accounting principles (GAAP).

The head of any department, with the written approval of the City Manager, may transfer any unencumbered balance or any

portion thereof from one fund or agency within their department to another fund or agency within their department.

bxpenditures may not legally "*"..-d budgeted appropriations in total. Except for capital improvements, all annual

appropriations lapse at year-end unless encumbered.

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and continuing appropriations (certain projects and specific

items not fully expendJd ut y.u.-.nd) are recognized, is employed in the governmental funds. Encumbrances are not the

equivalent of 
"*penditu..r, 

*i are therefore, repo.ted as part of the assigned fund balance at year-end, and are carried forward to

supplement appropriations of the subsequent year.

State statutes require balanced budgets but provide for the use of beginning unassigned fund balance to achieve that end. For the

fiscal year 2022, g1,078,461 of the beginning general fund unassigned fund balance was applied for this purpose' In addition,

52;i1,450 was voted from unassigned fund balance to fund supplemental appropriations.

2-B Budgetary Reconciliation to GAAP Basis

While the City reports financial position, results of operations, and changes in fund balance on the basis of generally accepted

accounting principles (GAAP), tire budgetary basis as provided by law is based upon accounting for certain transactions on a
basis of *rit ..r"iptr, disbursements, ind encumbrances. The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund

Balance - Budget and Actual is presented for the general fund.

Differences between the budgetary basis and GAAP basis of accounting for the general fund are as follows:

General
s 3s,518,884

762,486
(278,339)

(269,781)
35.733.250

Revenues and other financing sources:
Per Exhibit D (budgetary basis)

Adjustment:
Basis differences:

GASB Statement No. 54:

To record income of the blended funds
To eliminate transfers betvveen blended funds

Change in deferred tax revenue relating to 60-day revenue recognition

recognized as revenue on the GAAP basis, but not on the budgetary basis

Per Exhbit C-3 (GAAP basis) $

37

(Continued)



CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
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DECEMBER 31,2022

Budgetary reconciliation to GAAP basis continued:

Expenditures and other financing uses:

Per Exhibit D (budgetary basis)
Adjustment:

Basis differences:
Encumbrances, beginning
Encumbrances, ending
GASB StatementNo. 54:

To record expenditures ofthe blended lLnds during the year
Per Exhibit c-3 (GAAP basis)

$ 36,840,334

2,539,690
(r,420,168)

801.271
38.76t.127$

2-C DeJicit Fund Balance

The capital improvements fund had a deficit fund balance of $13,455 at December 31, 2022. This deficit will be financed

through future bond/note proceeds as well as transfers from the expendable trust funds'

2-D Accounting Change

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 87, Leases, was implemented during fiscal year 2022. T\e objective

of this Statement is to bJtter meet the information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial

reporting for leases by governments. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments' financial statements by requiring

recognitlon of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as

inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for
lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings ofthe right to use an underlying asset. Under this

Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a leaie liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to

recognize a lease receivible and a defened inflow ofresources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information

aboui govemments' leasing activities. As a result of implementation of this Statement, prior year capital leases payable were

reclasslfied as notes payab'ie. In addition, the municipal airport and business-type activities now report lease receivables and

offsetting deferred inilows of resources for the remaining balances of noncancellable lease receivables. However, there were no

restatemints to the beginning net position or fund balance. See Note 14, Lease Receivables, for further information.

DETAILED NOTES ONALL FUNDS

NOTE 3 _ CASH AND CASH EQAIVALENTS
The City,s deposits are covered by covered by the Federal Depository Insurance Corporalion (FDIC). The FDIC currently
insures in" n6t $250,000 of the City's depositj at each financial institution, per case custodian. The City utilizes Insured Cash

Sweep accounts, which ensure that all bank balances are covered by the FDIC. As of year-end, the carrying amount of the City's
depojits was $51,198,135 and the bank balances totaled $51,123,927. Petty cash totaled 52,340.

Cash and cash equivalents reconciliation:

Cash per Statement of Net Position (Exhibit A)
Cash per Statement of Net Position - Fiduciary Fund (Exhibit F-1)

Total cash and cash equivalents

$ 50,488,808
709.327
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NOTE 4 _ RESTRICTED ASSETS

The following assets are classified as restricted because of the statutory limitation placed on their use as they are earmarked for a
specific purpose:

Cash and cash equivalents:
General fund:

Expendable trust
Grants
Emergency management
Heritage
Restricted funds
American Rescue Plan Act

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents

Investments:
General fund:

Expendable trust
Accourts receivable:

General fund:
Grants

Total restricted assets

Valuation
Measurement

Method

$ 162,714
64,503

165,422

3 1,560

1,224,192
218,1.93

30,056

$ 3,191,294

NOTE 5 _INVESTMENTS

Note l-F describes statutory requirements covering the investment of the City funds. The City holds investments that are

measured at fair value on a iecurring basis. Since investing is not a core part of the City's mission, the City determines that the

disclosures related to these investments only need to be disaggregated by major type. The City categorizes its fair value

measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles.

The Cify has the following recurring fair value measurements and maturities as of December 3l ,2022:

Reported
Balance

Less Than I
Year l-5 Years

Exempt from
Disclosure

Investment type:
Equities

Fixed income
Mutual funds

Total fair value
Investments carried at amortized cost:

New Hampshire Public Deposit Investment Pool

Level I
Level I
Level I

$ 3,513,799

14,175,559

123r,093
18,920,451

$
950,889 3,996,275

$ 3,513,799

9228,39s
1,231,093

$

$ 950,889 $ $l

ll 749
Total invesments $ 18,932,200

Interest Rate Risk * This is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.

Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates'

The City,s Trustees of Trust Funds investment policy limits investment maturities for capital reserve funds to five years as a

means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.

Credit Risk - The City's Trustees of Trust Funds investment policy limits capital reserve investments to the highest grade

domestic fixed investments (U.S. treasuries and agencies) and/or in a suitable money market fund or mutual fund, including
exchange haded funds, as a means of managing ct"dit risk. For trust funds, the policy specifies that not more than 507o, nor less

than3io/o, of the portfolio should be invested in equities; of which not more thang0o/o, nor less than70Yo, in an S&P 500 lndex
fund, l0% to30Yo intemational index funds and0o/oto l5o/o in small- and mid-cap index funds.
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Not more than 70o/o nor less than 50Yo of the portfolio should be invested in diversified fixed income pools or funds

representative of the broad U.S. government and corporate market. The cash balance, which composes the rest, should range

between |Yo and I 0% of the total trust fund balance.

Ratings as of Year-end

Investments Tvne
Reported
Balance

Exempt from
Disclosure AA+ Other

Investment type:
Equities
Fixed income
Mutual funds
New Hampshire Public Deposit Investment Pool

Total fair value

$ $ $ $3,513,'.t99
14,175,559

1,231,093
11,749

3,513,799
9,228,396
1,231,093

|.749

4,599,190 347,9'73

$ 18,932,200 $ r3-985.037 $ 4,599,190 _$_J47,n]_

Custodial Credit Risk - This is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g., broker/dealer) to honor a

transaction, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an

outside party. The City does not have custodial credit risk policies for investments.

Concentration of Credit Risk - The City's Trustees of Trust Funds investment policy limits the amount it may invest in any

one issuer to not more than l\Vo of the total trust fund balance, excepting U.S. obligations and mutual funds. There are no

issuers that exceeded 5% of the City's total investments.

Investment reconciliation:

Investments per statement of Net Position (Exhbit A) $ 13,892,363

Investments per Statement of Net Position - Fiduciary Funds (Exhbit F-l) 5'039'837

Total investments $ 18'932'200

NOTE 6 _ TAXES RECEIVABLE
Taxes receivable represent the amount of current and prior year taxes which have not been collected as of December 31,2022.
The amount in the governmental activities has been reduced by an allowance for an estimated uncollectible amount of $150,000,
which is removed in the general fund due to the deferral of tax receivables not collected within 60 days of year-end. Taxes

receivable by year are as follows:
As rePorted on:

Exhibit A Exhbit C-l

$ 1,949,545 $ 1,949,545

911,980
86,825
55,542
5,124

(150,000) *

$ 6 $ 3,009,016

*The allowance for uncollectible property taxes is not recognized under the modified accrual basis ofaccounting (Exhibit C-l and C-3) due to the 60-day rule as

explained in Note l-8. However, the allowance is recognized under the full accrual basis ofaccounting (Exhibits A and B).

NOTE 7 _ OTHER RECEIVABLES
Receivables at December 31,2022, consisted of accounts (billings for police details, water, sewer, ambulance, and other user

charges) and intergovernmental amounts arising from grants. Receivables are recorded on the City's financial statements to the

extent that the amounts are determined to be material and substantiated not only by supporting documentation, but also by a

reasonable, systematic method of determining their existence, completeness, valuation, and collectability.

Property:
Levy of2022
Unredeemed (under tax lien):

Lelvy of202l
Levy of2020
Levies of2019 and prior

Yield
Less: allowance for estimated uncollectible taxes

Net taxes receivable

911,980

86,825
55,542

5,124

40



CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,2022

Receivables as of December 31, 2022 for the City's individual major funds and nonmajor funds in the aggregate, including
applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows:

Govemmental Business-tYPe Total
Activities Activities Government-wide

Receivables:
Accounts
Intergovemmental
Voluntary tax liens

Gross receivables
Less: allowance for uncollectibles
Net total receivables

7,7t5,152

$ 1,073,533 $ 7,715,152

Proprietarv Funds

$ 1,846,736

547,283
q804

s 1,416,225

6,298,927

3,262,961

6,846,210
9.804

$

2,403,823
(1,330,290)

10,1 18,975
(1,330,2e0)

_q_____gz!qqq!_

Sewage
Collection

and Disposal

Solid
Waste

Disposal

Water
Treatment and

Distribution
Municipal

Airport

Total
Proprietary

Funds

Receivables:
Accounts
Intergovemmental

Net total receivables

Receivables:
Accounts
Reshicted
Intergovernmental
Voluntary tax liens

Gross receivables
Less : allowance for uncollectibles
Net total receivables

$ 579,42r
4,M1,571

$ 388,428 $ 132,675

381,594

315,701

1.475.762
$ tlr6,22s

6,298,927
$

$ 5,020,992 $ 388.428 $ s14,269 $ 1.791.463 $ 7,715,rs2

General Nonmaior

Total
Govemmental

Funds

Fiduciary
Funds

Governmental Frutds

s 1,799,863

30,056

38,491
9,804

$ 16,817 $ 1,816,680

30,056

38,491

9.804

16,163,703 t

$

1,878,214
(r,330,2e0)

16,8t7 1,895,031
(1,330,290)

16,163,703

$ 547.924 $ 16,817 $ 564-741 $ 16,163,703

Fiduciary Funds - Intergovemmental receivables represent property taxes collected on behalf of the Lebanon School District. These amounts are collected
and are iart of the Cityis general fund cash at year-end. The general fund reports an offsetting intergovernmental payable for this amount at year-end, see

Note 11.

NOTES-PREPAIDITEMS
Prepaid items at December 31,2022 consisted of the following:

Funds

Crovernment-wide Statements Govemmental Funds

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities

Capital
Improvements

Sewage
Collection

and Disposal

Solid
Waste

Disposal

Water
Treatment and

Distribution
Municipal

General

Insurance
Other

Total

297,726
tOt,73l

41,099 $
79,667

297,726
9t,731 10,000

10,602 $
750

16,236
78,917

$ $ $ $ 9,012 $ s,249 $

$ 10,000 s$ 399,4s7 $ t20,766 $ 38q457

4l
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Additions Deletions
Balance,
ending

NOTE9_CAPITALASSETS
Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31,2022 is as follows:

Balance,
beginning

Governmental activities:
At cost:

Not being depreciated:
Land
Intangible assets

Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated

Being depreciated:
Land improvements
Buildings and building improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Total capital assets being depreciated
Total all capital assets

Less accumulated depreciation:
Land improvements
Buildings and building improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Total accumulated dePreciation
Net book value, capital assets being depreciated
Net book value, all governmental activities capital assets

23,755,085

86,969,699

$ 7,629,286
189,570

ts,936,229

3,744,468
28,975,645
15,t16,759

134,806,571
158,561,656

(2,498,930)
(9,493,956)
(7,172,833)

(25,641,s72)
(44,807,291)
89,999,280Trt

$ 73,150
395,2s0

331,376
3,004,677

229,182
8,826,094@@

$

(l 1,561)

(1 1,561)
(9,23 1,388)

8,093

7,702,436
584,820

4,075,844
31,968,761
15,345,941
95,79s 't93

47
163,969,993

$

t,77e,ee6 (e,21e,827) E/?9,1?q

-zits,zse 
Q,219,827) 16,783,654

8,093 (48, l

(2,616,770)
(10,061,104)

(8,052,089)

,387 ll
.474)(3,318,276)

9,073,053
s 11,321,449

(r 17,840)
(575,241)
(879,2s6)

(1,745,939)

(3,468) 99,068,865
$ (e 223 2er_ t115,852,5 le_

Business-type activities:
At cost:

Not being depreciated:
Land
Intangible assets

Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated

Being depreciated:
Land improvements
Buildings and building improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Total capital assets being depreciated
Total all capital assets

Less accumulated depreciation:
Land improvements
Buildings and building improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Total accumulated dePreciation
Net book value, capital assets being depreciated
Net book value, all business-type activities capital assets

$ $ $$ 809,968
545,054

10,5 l 8,684
90,000

7,691,068 (4,420,s22) 13,

809,968
63s,054
789,230

tt,873,706 7,781,068 (4,420,s22) 15,234,252

45,641,150
42,346,728
9,7 56,592

82,516,837

65,804
3,790,277

597,743 (2t,s60)

45,706,9s4
46,137,005
r0,332,775
82,516,837

180,261,307@
4,453,824
t2,234,892 (4,442,082)

(8s5,3 l 0)
(8 1 3,07 l)
(44t,739) 19,404

(21,560) I

(33,815,4r5)
(16,584,407)

(5,354,334)
(25,065,8 l4) (1,523,089)

(34,670,72s)
(r7,397,478)

(s,776,669)
(26,588,903)

(80,819,970)
99,441,337

$ 111,315,043

(3,633,209) 19,404 (84,433,775)
100,2s9,796-S-Tis/-'tlp-4d-820,615

TTrdiT'd-
(2,156)

$ (4,422,678)
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions of the City based on their usage of the related assets. The amounts allocated to

each function are as follows

Gove rnme ntal activitie s :

General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Cuhure and recreation
Conservation

Total depreciation expense

Bus iness-type activities :

Sewage collection and disposal
Solid waste disposal
Water treatment and distribution
Municipal airport

Total depreciation expense

$ 64,850

566,224

2,417,741
250,267

19.194

$ 3.318.276

$ 1,432,139

709,335
822,567
669-168

$ 3.633.209

NOTE 10 _ INTERFUND BALANCES AND TRANSFERS

Interfund Balsnces- The composition of interfundbalances as of December3l,2022 is as follows

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

General
General
Nonmajor govemmental

Municipal airport
Nonmajor govemmental
General

$ 241,493
51,140

5,034

s 297,667

The outstanding balances among funds result mainly from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services

are provided oi reimbursable eipenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (3) payments

between funds are made.

Interfund Transfers- The composition of interfund transfers for the year ended December 31,2022 is as follows:

Cumulative
Transfers In Transfers Out Transfers

Major governmental funds :

General
Capital improvements

Nonmajor govemmental funds
Total governmental funds

Major proprietary funds :

Sewage collection and disposal
Solid waste disposal
Water treatment and distribution
Municipal airport

Total proprietary funds

Total

$ $ (1,10e,8m)

1,996,272

$

732.346

(626,18/.)
(1,736,0741

1,882,286

1,695,176
154.884

s 772396
1,695,176
(471,300)

(6',t4,175)
(r,170,447)

(6542s)
(86.225)

250,920

250,920 (r,996,272)

$

During the year, transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund with collection authority to the fund responsible for
expenditure and (2) move general fund resources to provide an annual subsidy.

(674,175)
(r,r70,447)

(3t6,34s)
(86,225)

(2,247,r92)

$ (3,983,266)
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NOTE 1I _ INTERGOVERNMENTAL PAYABLES
Amounts due to other governments at December 3l,2022,consist of the following:

Governmental
Activities

CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,2022

Govemmental
Funds

General

Fiduciary
Funds

Custodial
Funds

Property taxes due to the custodial fimds
Balance due to the New Hampshire Retirement System
Fees due to the State of New Hampshire
Property taxes due to the Lebanon School District
Impact fees due to the Lebanon School Dishict

Total intergovernmental payables due

Governmental fiurds:
General fund
Capital improvements

Total govemmental ftmds
Proprietary funds:

Sewage collection and disposal
Solid waste disposal
Water treatment and dishibution
Municipal airport

Total proprietary funds

Total

Govemmental fund:
Capital improvements

Proprietary funds:
Sewage collection and disposal
Solid waste disposal
Water treatment and dishibution
Municipal airport

Total proprietary funds

Total

$ 16,163,703

519,040
7,113

16,163,703

519,040
7,113

$ $

16,163,703 2

261,738

$ 16.689.856 16.689.856 $ 16,425,44r$

propefi taxes due to the Lebanon School District represent amounts collected by the City that will be paid to the School District in incremental payments

based upon an agreed schedule in the next calendar year.

NOTE 12 _ CONSTRUCTION COMMITMENTS
The City has active construction projects as of December 31, 2022. The projects include street construction, water and sewer

improvements, sidewalk construction, and other capital improvements. At year-end, the City's commitments with contractors

for work are as follows:
Retainage
Payable

g 20,663
442,074
4A-737

Contracts
Payable

$
621,839
621.839

90,871

105,342

130.436
326,&9 155-493

$ 789,386 $ 777332

The remaining balances of uncompleted construction contracts at December 31,2022, are as follows:

47,634
72,840
35,019

Total Contracts Spent to Date
Remaining

Commitment

$ 3,552,390 190.078 $ t2$1,

2,05s,727
5,274,061

282,351
2,853,202

658,884
3,557,997

73,523

1,396,843
1,716,0il

208,828
562,0472,291,r55

10.465.341 6,581,559 3,883 ,782

$7,$

44

14.01't.731 771,637 $ 6,246,094



NOTE 13 _DEFERRED OATFLOWS/INFLOWS OF RESOARCES

Deferred outflows of resources are as follows:

Governmental
Activities

CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,2022

Government-wide Statements
Business-type

Activities Total
Amounts related to pensions (see Note 16)
Amounts related to other postemployment benefits (see Note l7)

Total

Amounts related to pensions (see Note 16)
Amounts related to other postemployment benefits (see Note l7)

Total

Deferred inflows of resources are as follows

Unavailable revenue - Property taxes
Unavailable revenue - Grants received in advance
Debt forgiveness
Deferred revenue
Amounts related to leases (see Note l4)
Amounts related to pensions (see Note I6)
Amounts related to other postemployment benefits (see Note l7)

Debt forgiveness
Deferred revenue
Amounts related to leases (see Note l4)
Amounts related to pensions (see Note 16)
Amounts related to other postemployment benefits (see Note 17)

$ 4,836,S88 $ 498,930 $ 5,335,818
260.307 39,031 299,338

$ 5,635,156$ 5,097,19s $ 537,961

P.fu
Collection Waste Treatment and Municipal

and Disposal Disposal Distribution Airport
$ 74,645$ l6l,987 $ 135,312 $ 126,986

13,198
$ 175,185

t0,021
$ 145,333

Government-wide Statements Governmental
Fund

10,133 5,679
$ 137,119 $ 80,324

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities General

$ $ $ 777,r55
1,2t0,32tt,210,321

1,797,538

463,481
425,969

3,599,237
232,228

t,'t61,106
47,809

2

$ 3,897,30e s 1,987,476

Proprietary Funds

Collection Waste Treatment and Municipal
and Disposal Disposal Distribution Airport
$ 1,590,883 $ O,6OS s 2,001,749 $

s 2,034,s73

232,228
1,761,106

7,153
11,344

_{_2,0r r,83.!_

12,168
20,656

$ 1,633,536

NOTE 14 -LEASE RECEIVABLES
The Town had the following lease receivables as of December 31,2022

15,522
27,13t

Matwity
Date

2031
2048
2027
2024

12,966
t9,781

$ 39,352

Original
Amount Issue Date

Interest
Rate

Receivable at

December 3 2022t.
Bus ines s-type activitie s

Big Green Aviation
Alpha Sierra
GSA Fort Worth
Cape Air

$ 396,084

s r,564,672

s 136,220

$ 205,956

0.00Yo

0.00o/"

0.00%
0.00o/o

Total lease receivables

344,192
1,27r,300

13,622

133,321

2019
2016
2022
2021

$

45
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The annual requirements to amortize all lease receivables outstanding as of Decembet 31,2022, including interest payments, are
as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending
December 31, Principal

$ 164,401
150,010

89,410
89,410
89,410

397,458
244,480
244,480
244,480

48,896
s 1,762,435

NOTE 15 _ LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Changes in the City's long-term liabilities consisted of the following for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Additions Reductions

Balance
December 31,

2022
Gove rnmental activities :

Bonds payable:
Direct placements

Notes/loans payable -
direct borrowings

Premium
Total bonds/notes payable

Compensated absences

Net pension liability
Net other postemployment benefits

Total long-term liabilities

$ 29,823,316 $ 3,256,480 $ (2,956,844) $ 30,122,9s2 S 2,997,462 $ 27,12s,490

8,340,769

2,8 13.560

2023
2024
2025
2026
2W7

2028-2032
2033-2037
2038-2042
2043-2047

2048
Totals

Balance
January l,

2022
Due Within
One Year

Due In More
Than One Year

8,598,230
2.847.494

(430,152) *
(198,727)

(3,sgs,723)

8,910,478

3,012,287
742,400
363,520

569,709
r98,727

4t.269,040
2,265,285

20,498,451
2,723,623

4,362400
2,010,741
5,602,161

),45

42,045,717
4,276,026

26,100,612
2.681.448

3,765,898
164,284

38,279,819
4,t11,'742

26,t00,612
2,681448@4.626).

$ 66,756,399 $ n.9'77.753 $ (3.630,349) $ 7s,103,803 $ 182 $ 71.173.621

*ll/ater Pollation Control Revolving Fund Progran - Included in the $430,152 notes/loans reduction is $111,360 of one-time
principal forgiveness related to a loan received under the Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program. The loan was
consolidated by promissory note upon completion of the project. The total loan amount issued was 5742,400 (in the
governmental activities), of which $ I I I ,360, or 15.0%o, was forgiven in the form of federal financial assistance.

Balance
January 1,

2022 Additions Reductions

Balance
December 31,

2022
Due Within
One Year

Due In More
Than One Year

Business-type activities:
Bonds payable:

Direct placements
Notes/loans payable -

direct borrowings
Premium

Total bonds/notes payable

$ 15,891,308 $ 863,520 $ (1,693,206) $15,061,622 $ 1,753,313 $ 13,308,309

30,084,427 30,398,562
35

2,073,600 (2,600,140) 46,855,019 3,889,689

1,1 l3,600
96,480

(799,465) *
(107,469)

2,028,907
107,469

28,369,655
1,287,366

42,965,330
(Continued)

47,381,559
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Lo ng-t erm I i ab ilities continued

Compensated absences
Accrued landfrll closure and

postclosure care costs
Net pension liability
Net other postemployment benefits

Total long-term liabilities

Additions Reductions

276,781 133,942 (20,378) 390,345

Balance
January 1,

2022

Balance
December 31,

2022
Due Within
One Year

Due In More
Than One Year

38,175

162,010

352,170

12,126,079

2,692,303

357.36s

10,695,688

2,088,986

359,350

1,592,401

603,3r7
2332

12,288,089

2,692,303
357.365(4,317)

$ 60,802,364 $ $ (2,624,83s) $ 2t s 4,089,874 $

*Water Poltution Control Revolving Fund Program - Included in the $799,465 notes/loans reduction is $167,040 of one-time
principal forgiveness related to a loan received under the Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program. The loan was

.onroiidut.d by promissory note upon completion of the project. The total loan amount issued was $1,113,600 ($556,800 in the

sewage collection and disposal proprietary iund and $556,800 in the water treahnent and distribution proprietary fund), of which

$167;040 ($83,520 in thJsewage collection and disposal proprietary fund and $83,520 in the water fteatment and distribution
proprietary fund), or 15.0% 05n% in the sewage collection and disposal proprietary fund and 15.0% in the water treatment and

distribution proprietary fund) was forgiven in the form offederal financial assistance.

Long-term bonds/notes are comprised of the following:
Outstanding at
December 31,

2022
Original
Amount

Issue
Date

Maturity
Date

Interest
Rate%o

Current
Portion

Governmental activities:
Bonds payable - direct placements:

NHMBBO3C
NHMBB04B
NHMBBOsB
NHMBBO64.
NHMBBOTB
NHMBBO8A
NHMBBO9C
NHMBBIOB
NHMBBIIB
NHMBBl28
NHMBBl4A
NHMBBl68
NHMBBlTB
NHMBBISB
NHMBB2OA
NHMBB2OB
NHMBB2IC
NHMBB22C

Total direct placements

$ I,l 18,620
$ 3,506,098
$ 4,583,082
$ 4,44r,66s
$ 6,584,51 I
$ 2,396,404
$ 3,836,780
$ 3,948,393
$ 3,651,784
$ 428,374
$ 655,000
$ I,819,100
$ 1,856,400
$ 2,905,400
$ 7,148,900
$ 7,239,292
$ r,229,070
$ 3,256,480

4.00-6.00 $
3.00-5.00
4.00-4.50
4.50-5.00
4.00-4.75
4.00-4.t25
3.02-5.02

3.823
3.55

2.57-3.18
5. l0
2.51
2.52
3.20
2.12
1.64

2.10-5.10
4. l0-5. l0

55,660
344,286
675,000
880,000

1,493,000
417,150
841,000

1,553,960
1,530,000

203,600
130,000

1,260,000
1,280,000
2,229,000
6,385,000
6,423,816
I,165,000
3,256,480

$ s5,660
172,143
225,000
220,000
298,600

69,525
121,000
197,370
170,000
20,360
65,000
90,000

I 15,000
164,000
375,000
408,804

67,000
163,000

2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
20ll
2012
2014
2016
2017
2018
2020
2020
2021
2022

2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2024
2036
2037
2038
2040
2040
2041
2042

30,122,952 2,997,462
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Longl erm b onds /not es continued :

Notes/loans payable - direct borrowings:
sRF CS-333092-05
sRF CS-330092-07 CSO
sRI CS-330092-08 CSO
sRF CS-330092-10 CSO
sRF CS-1321010-02 CSO
Mascoma Bank vehicle note
sRF CS-330092-ll CSO
SRF DWGT-17 CSO
sRf cs-330092-12 cso
sRF CS-330092-14

Total direct borrowings
Bond premiums

Total

Original
Amount

Maturity
Date

2034
2036
2036
2037
2039
2023
2040
2040
2040
2041

Interest
Rate io

Outstanding at
December 31,

2022
Current
Portion

Issue
Date

$

$

$
$

$

$
$
$
$

$

2,912,891
1,2',t2,534

1,280,000

728,283
800,000

84863
4,489,689

74,615
1,381,845

742,400

1,769,210

1,281,902

1,254,393

2,070,1&
2,362,489
2,030,611
1,370,220

3,1s2,607
4,',120,716

4,306,526
2,207,000
1,629,000

2,993,r33
2,360,980
3,256,480

2014
2016
2017

2018

2019
2019
2020
2021
2021
2022

3.392
2.00
2.00
2.70
1.70

2.99
2.00

2.424
2.00
2.00

814,388
780,458
784,000
491,595
605,147

16,972

3,636,648
62,065

I,tl9,7t7
599,488

74,035

55,747

56,000

32,773

35,597

16,972

202,036
2,791

62,206
31.552

8,910,478 569,709

198.7273.012.287

$ 42,041717 $3, 765.898

Business-type activities :

Bonds payable - direct placements:
NHMBB03C
NHMBBO4B
NHMBB05B
NHMBB064'
NHMBBOTB
NHMBBO8A
NHMBBO9C
NHMBBIOB
NHMBBIIB
NHMBBl2B
NHMBBI3C
NHMBBI88
NHMBB2OB
NHMBB2IC
NHMBB22C

Total direct placements

$

$

$
$

$

$
$

$

$

$

$
$

$

$

$

2003
2004
2005

2006
2007
2008

2009
2010
20lt
2012
2013
2018
2020
2021
2022

2023
2024
2025
2026
247
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2038
2040
2041
2M2

4.00-6.00
3.00-5.00
4.00-4.50
4.50-5.00
4.00-4.75

4.00-4.125
3.02-5.02

3.823
3.55

2.57-3.18
4. l0-5.60

3.20
1.&

2. l0-5. l0
4. l0-5. l0

19,340

55,714
180,000

410,000
702,000
632,850
474,000

r,261,040
2,1 15,000

936,400
I,185,000
1,296,000
2,690,758
2,240,000

863.520

$ 19,340

27,857

60,000

105,000

136,400

t05,475
69,000

157,630

235,000

329,640
I10,000
81,000

150,771

123,000

43,200

$

1s_061.622 753,313l,
(Continued)
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Longlerm bonds/notes continued

Original
Amount

Maturity
Date

Interest
Rate %

Outstanding at
December 31,

2022
Current
Portion

Issue
Date

Notes/loans payable - direct borrowings
sRF CS-330092-03
2OI2 SRF/ARRA
sRF CS-333092-05
sRF CS-330092-07 CSO
sRF C5-330092-04
sRF CS-330092-06
sRF CS-330092-08 CSO
sRF # 1321010-01

sRF CS-330092-09
sRF CS-330092-10 CSO
sRF CS-1321010-02 CSO
sRFCS-330092-ll CSO
SRF DWGT-l7 CSO
sRF CS-330092-12 CSO
SRF DWGT.23
John Deere wheel loader
sRF CS-330092-14

Total direct borrowings
Bond premiums

Total

$

$
$
$
$
s
$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

$

$

$

1,576,416

1,294,062

4,369,336
1,908,801

11,541,5@

1,904,452

1,920,000

200,000

4,672,089
1,092,424

1,200,000

7,M0,093
ttt,923

2,072,768
3,400,000

358,500

742400

472,924
349,694

1,221,584
1,1't0,690
8,079,091

1,07t,709
1,176,000

148,867

3,504,068

737,386
907,721

6,026,472

93,098

1,679,575

2,621,467
238,984
899,232

78,821

34,613

I11,053
83,620

577,078
76,551
84,000

9,266
233,604

49,160

53,396

334,804
4,188

93,310

100,148

57,967

47,328

2008

20ll
2014
2016
2016
2016
2017

2017
2017

2018
2019
2020
2021
2021
2021
2021
2022

2028
2031
2034
2036
2036
2036
2036
2036
2037
2037
2039
2040
2040
2040
2041
2026
2041

2.352
3.55

3.392
2.00
2.00
2.00
2.00
1.96

2.42
2.70
1.70

2.00
2.424
2.00
3.38
2.00
2.00

30,398,562
1.394.835

$ 46.855.019

2,028,907

r07469

_$__1,88e,68e_

The annual requirements to amortize all general obligation bonds/notes outstanding as of Decembet 31,2022, including interest

payments, are as follows:

Governmental activities :

Fiscal Year Ending Bonds - Direct Placements Notes/Loans - Direct Borrowings

December 3l Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total

2023
2024
2025
2026
2027

2028-2032
2033-2037
2038-2042

Totals

g 2,997,462

2,937,t14
2,694,97r
2,429,971

2,202,871

8,056,514

5,789,559
3,014,490

$ 1,252,848

1,094,46s
952,349
822,M6
704,625

2,192,880
899,738
189,645

$ 4,250,310

4,031,579
3,&7,320
3,252,417

2,907,496
10,249,394

6,689,297
3,204,135

_s__$2i1p1g_

$ 714,430
687,602
678,251

668,903

659,556
3,157,657

2,531,468
1,030,006

$ 569,709

552,807

552,875

552,946
553,018

2,766,246
2,360,458

$

l9
$ 8,910,478 $ 1,2 17.395 $ 10, 127.873

(Continued)

144,721

t34,795
125,376

t15,957
106,538

39l,4ll
171,010
27.587

$ 30, 122.952 $ 8,108,996
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Long-term bonds/notes continued:

Business-type activities:

CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,2022

Bonds - Direct Placements Notes/Loans - DirectFiscal Year Ending
December 31

2023
2024
2025
2026
2027

2028-2032
2033-203'7
2038-2042

Totals

$ 1,753,313
1,739,087
1,406,230
1,346,230
1,243,230
4,318,986
2,065,241
1,189,305

s 1s,06r,622

$ 633,700
549,366
470,174
406,043
342,828
993,68s
338,869
7l.809

$ 2,387,013
2,288,4s3
t,8'16,404
1,752,273
1,586,058
5,312,671
2,404,110
l,26l,ll4

$ 18,868,096

2,034,728
2,040,736
2,046,917
I,990,488
9,675,258
8,276,578
2,304,950

$ 30,398,562

Interest@
492,195
457,489
422,606
387,541

1,440,274
673,662
125,732

$ 4,s26,225

$ 2,555,633
2,526,923
2,498,225
2,469,523
2,378,029

11,1t5,532
8,950,240
2,430,682

Principal Interest Total Total

$ 3,806,474 $34,924,787

Accrued LandJill Closure and poslclosure Csrc Costs - Federal and State laws and regulations require that the City place a

final cover on its landfill when closed and perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the landfill site after closure.

A liability is being recognized based on the future closure and postclosure care costs that will be incurred. The recognition of
these landfill closure and postclosure care costs is based on the amount of the landfill used through the end of the year. The

estimated liability for landirll closure and postclosure care costs has a balance of $12,288,089 as of December 31, 2022,whichis
based on $7,42j,7gg of closure costs for the open landfills and $4,860,300 of postclosure maintenance costs ($162'010 per year

over a period of 30 years). The estimated tot;l current cost of the landfill closure and postclosure care is based on the amount

that would be paid ii all equipment, facilities, and services required to close, monitor, and maintain the landfill were acquired as

of December jt, ZOZZ. However, the actual cost of closure and postclosure care may be higher or lower due to inflation'
changes in technology, or changes in landfill laws and regulations. The City expects to finance the closure and postclosure care

costs through contemporaneouJ sefting aside of sufficient amounts in a capital reserve fund. As of December 31,2022, this
capital reserve fund had a balance $8,684,803.

(This space intentionally left blank.)
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Bonds/Notes Authorized and Unissued- Bonds and notes authorized and unissued as of December 31,2022 were as follows

Per
City Meeting Unissued

Vote of Pwpose Amount
2015
2018
2018
2018

2019
2019
2019
20t9
2019
2019
2019
2020
2020
2020
2020
2020
2021
202r
2021
2021
2021
2021
2022
2022
2022
2022
2022
2022
2022
2022
2022
2022

r00,000
2,426,672

50,000
255,000

120,000
275,000

2,220,687

700,000
170,000

20,000
120,000
123,075
200,000
355,000

1,100,000

1,500,000
4s6,625

r,200,2r0
102,900

1,000,000
275,000
100,000

3,405,000
820,000
200,000
150,000

900,000
200,000

1,800,000
300,000
137,800

1.362.060

packard Hill b,ridge

CSO Separation and Utility replacement
Lebanon Police Department HVAC repair and upgrade

Streets rehabilitation/reconstruction
Packard Hill bridge

Hanover Streefloute 120 bridge
CSO Separation and Utility replacement

Mechanic/HighlN4ascoma Streets intersection
Radio commwrications repeater replacement

Water treatment facility improvements
Asset management program

Airport TIF Disnict infrastucture improvements
Miracle Mib pedestrian transit improvements

Hanover Street reconstruction
Huber sludge dewatering press

Lanfill gas to enerry project
Airport TIF Dishict infr astructure improvements

Lebanon Library Renovation - Design/Eng/Constr.
Kimball Street infrastnrcture improvements

Spencer Street Improvements
Huber Sludge Dewatering Process

Mill Rd Sbpe Stabilization
Kimball Street infrastructure improvements

Trues Brook Road bridge replacement
Mack Ave infrastructwe improvements

Fore st Ave reconstruction
Roadway improvements - Miracle Mile SRF

West Lebanon capital improvements
Waier system improvements - Miracle Mile SRF

Water system improvements - Mechanic Street
Landfrll gas and collection control system

Lanfill gas to energy project

$

Responsfob
Fund

General
GeneraVwater treatrnent and distnbution/sewage collectbn and disposal

General
GeneraVsewage collection and disposal

General
General

GeneraVwater treatment and distrbution/sewage collection and disposal

General
General

Water treatment and distbution
Sewage collection and disposal

General
General
General

Sewage collection and disposal

Solid waste disposal
Airport
General

GeneraVwater treatment and distributior/sewage collection and disposal

General
Sewage collection and disposal
Sewage collection and disposal

GeneraVwater treatrnent and distrbutior/sewage collection and disposal

General
GeneraVwater heatment and distrfoution/sewage collection and disposal

General/water treatrnent and distribution/sewage collection and disposal

General
General

Water treatrnent and distibution
Water treatrnent and distribution

Solid waste disposal
Solid waste disposal

g 22.t45.029
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NOTE 16_ DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN
plan Description - The New Hampshire Retirement System (I{HRS or the System) is a public employee retirement system that
administers I cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan (Pension Plan), a component unit of the State of New
Hampshire, as defined in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for
Pension Plans - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 25. The Pension Plan was established in 1967 by RSA 100-4:2 and is
qualified as a tax-exempt organization under Sections a01(a) and 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Pension Plan is a
contributory, defined b-enefit plan providing service, disability, death, and vested retirement benefits to members and their
beneficiaries. Substantially all full-time State employees, public school teachers and administrators, permanent firefighters, and
permanent police officers within the State are eligible and required to participate in the Pension Plan. The System issues a

publicly uuuilubl" financial report that may be obtained by writing the New Hampshire Retirement System, 54 Regional Drive,
Concord, NH 03301.

BeneJits Provided - Benefit formulas and eligibility requirements for the Pension Plan are set by state law (RSA 100-4). The
pension plan is divided into two membership groups. State and local employees and teachers belong to Group I. Police and

firefighters belong to Group II.

Group I benefits are provided based on creditable service and average final salary for the highest of either three or five years,

depending on when service commenced.

Group II benefits are provided based on age, years ofcreditable service, and benefit multiplier depending on vesting status as of
January 1,2012. The maximum retirement allowance for Group II members vested by January 1,2012 (45 years of age with 20

y.u.r of service or age 60 regardless of years of creditable service) is the average final compensation multiplied by 2.5%
multiplied by creditable service. For Group II members not vested by January l, 2012, the benefit is calculated the same way,
but the multiplier used in the calculation will change depending on age and years of creditable service as follows:

Years ofCreditable Service as ofJanuary 1,2012 Minimum Age Minimum Service Benefit Multiplier

At least 8 but less than 10 years 46 2t 2.4%

At least 6 but less than 8 years 47 22 2.3Yo

At least 4 but less than 6 years 48 23 2.2%

Less than 4 years 49 24 2.1%

Members of both groups may qualifl, for vested deferred allowances, disability allowances, and death benefit allowances, subject
to meeting various eligibility requirements. Benefits are based on AFC or earnable compensation and/or service.

Contributions - The System is financed by conhibutions from both the employees and the City. Member contribution rates are

established and may bi amended by the State legislature while employer contribution rates are set by the System trustees based

on an actuarial valuation. Group I (employee and teacher) members are required to conffibute 7Vo of eamable compensation and

Group II (police and firefighters) members contribute 11.55% and 11.807o, respectively. For fiscal year 2022, the City
contributed3 0.670A for polici, 29.78% for fire and 13.75%o for other employees. The conhibution requirement for the fiscal year
2022was $3,036,180, which was paid in full.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
pensions - At December 31, 20i2,the City reported a liability of $28,792,915 for its proportionate share of the net pension

liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City's proportion of the net pension liability was

tased on a projection ofthe City'slong-term share ofcontributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of
all participants, actuarially determined. At June 30,2022,the City's proportion was 0.5070, which was a decrease of 0.01% from
its proportion measured as of June 30,2021.
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For the year ended December 31,2022, the City recognized pension expense of $2,737,155. At December 31, 2022,the City
reported defened outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

Changes in proportion
Changes in assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual

investment earnings on pension plan investments
Differences between expected and actual experience
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date

Total

$ 495,301 $ 363,285
1,388,344

989, l 80
489,862

r,474,201
1 00,1 96

$ 4,836,888 $ 463,481

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources@

Total

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

$ 5 1,091
143,209

102,035 - 1,091,215
50,530 10,336 540,392 110,532

1s2,065 

- 

1,626,266 

-

$ 498,930 $ 47,809 $ 5,335,818 $ 511,290:::-

s s46,392 $ 400,758
I ,53 1,553

The $1,626,266 ($1,474,201 in the govemmental activities and $152,065 in the business-type activities) reported as deferred
outflows of resources related to pensions results from the City contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be
recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended December 31, 2023. Other amounts reported as deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending Governmental Business-type
December 31, Activities Activities

$ 1,038,929

951,471
(3eo,8r l)

1,299,617

2023
2024
2025
2026

Totals $ 2.899.206

$ 107,167

98,145
(40,312)
134,056

$ 299,056

$ I,144096
1,049,616
(431,r23)

t,433,673
$ 3,198,262

Actuarisl Assumptions - The collective total pension liability was determined by a roll forward of the actuarial valuation as of
June 30, 2021 , using the following actuarial assumptions which, accordingly, apply to 2022 measurements:

Inflation: 2.0%
Salary increases: 5.4Yo average, including inflation
Wage inflation: 2.75% (2.25% for teachers)
Investment rate of return: 6.75o/o net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

Mortality rates were based on the Pub-2010 Health Retiree Mortality Tables with credibility adjustments for each group (Police
and Fire combined) and projected fully generational mortality improvements using Scale MP-2019.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30,2021, valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial experience
study, which was for the period July l, 2015 - June 30, 2019.

Long-term Rates of Return - The long-teffn expected rate of return on pension plan investment was selected from a best
estimate range determined using the building block approach. Under this method, an expected future real return range is
calculated separately for each asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by
weighting the expected future real rate of return net of investment expenses by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected infl ation.
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Following is a table presenting target allocations and long-term rates ofreturn for2022

Target
Allocation

CITY OF LEBANON, NEW IIAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,2022

Asset Class 30 Year Ceometric Return

Broad US Equrty (l)
Global Ex-US Equtty (2)

Total public equity

Real Estate Equity
Private Equity

Total private market equity

Private Debt
Core U.S. Fixed Income (3)
Inflation
Total

50.00%

30.00%
20.00Yo

7.60%
7.90o/o

6.6U/o
8.85%

7.25o/o

3.6V/o
2.250h
7.3V/o

10.0V/o

10.00%

20.00%
5.00Yo

25.00%
0.00%

100.00%

Discount Rate -Thediscount rate used to measure the collective total pension liability was 6.75yo. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that

employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the

memblr rate. For purposes of the projection, member conhibutions and employer service cost conffibutions are projected based

on the expected payroll of current members only. Employer contributions are determined based on the Pension Plan's actuarial
funding policy is required by RSA 100-4:16- Based on those assumptions, the Pension Plan's fiduciary net position was

proiec[d to be availible to make all projected future benefit payments to current plan members. Therefore, the long-term

expected rate of return on pension Plan investment was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the

collective total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rste - The following
table presenis the City's proportionate share ofthe net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 6.750/o as well as

what ihe City's proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-

percentage point lower (5.75o/o) or l-percentage point higher (7.75%) than the current rate:

Cunent Single

Rate Assumption
6.75o/o

Actuarial
Valuation

Date
lo% Decrease

5.7sVo

l%o Increase
7.75%

Governmental activitie s

Business-type activities
Jwe30,2022
Iluu:re 30,2022

35,020,443
3.612.392

26,100,612
2,692303

18,684,601

1,927,334
$ $ s

$ 38.632.835 $ 28.792.91s $ 20,611,935

pension ptan Fiduciary Net position - Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is available in the

separately issued New ilampshire Retirement System Cost-Sharing Multiple Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan financial
report.

NOTE 17 _ POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS

17-A New Hampshire Retirement System (NHRS)
plan Description - The New Hampshire Retirement System (NHRS or the System) is a public employee retirement system

which administers a cost-sharing multiple-employer other postemployment benefit (OPEB) plan. For additional system

information, please refer to the 2022 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report, which can be found on the System's website at

www.nhrs.org.
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BeneJits Provided - Benefit amounts and eligibility requirements for the OPEB Plan are set by State law (RSA 100-4:52, RSA

100-A:52-a, and RSA 100-A:52-b), and members are designated in statute by type. The four membership types are Group II,
Police Officers, and Firefighters; Group I, Teachers; Group I, Political Subdivision Employees; and Group I, State Employees'
The OpEB plan provides a medical insurance subsidy to qualified retired members. The medical insurance subsidy is a payment

made by NHRS to the former employer or its insurance administrator toward the cost of health insurance for a qualified retiree,

hisftrer qualified spouse, and hislirei certified dependent children with a disability who are living in the household and being

cared foi by the reiiree. If the health insurance premium amount is less than the medical subsidy amount, then only the health

insurance premium amount will be paid. If the health insurance premium amount exceeds the medical subsidy amount' then the

retiree or other qualihed person is responsible for paying any portion that the employer does not pay.

Group I benefits are based on creditable service, age, and retirement date. Group II benefits are based on hire date, age, and

creditable service. The OPEB plan is closed to new entrants.

Maximum medical subsidy rates paid during fiscal year 2022 were as follows:

For qualified retirees not eligible for Medicare, the amounts were $375.56 for a single-person plan and $75 1.12for a

two-person plan.

For those qualified retirees eligible for Medicare, the amounts were $236.84 for a single-person plan and $473.68 for a

two-person plan.

Contributionr - The OpEB plan is funded by allocating to the 401 (h) subtrust the lesser of: 25oh of all employer contributions
made in accordance with RSA 100-4:16 or the percentage of employer contributions determined by the actuary to be the

minimum rate necessary to maintain the benefits provided under RSA 100-A;53-b, RSA 100-A:53-c, and RSA 100-A:53-d. For

fiscal year 2022, thenr-ini-utn rates determined by the actuary to maintain benefits were the lesser of the two options and were

used to determine the employer contributions due to the 401(h) subtrust. The State Legislature has the authority to establish,

amend, and discontinue the contribution requirements of the OPEB Plan. Adminishative costs are allocated to the OPEB Plan

based on fund balances. For fiscal year 20i2, the Town contributed 3.2lYo for police and fire, and 03loh for other employees.

The contribution requirement for the fiscal year 2022 was $219,205, which was paid in full'

O4EB Liabilities, OqEB Expense, Deferred Oulflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB - At
December 31,2022, the City r.port"d a liability of $1,872,765 for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability. The net

OpEB liability was r.uru."d ai of June 30, 2022, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was

determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City's proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on a projection of
the City's long-term share of contributions to the OPEB plan relative to the projected contributions of all participants, actuarially
determined. At June 30,2022, the City's proportion *ui 0.50%, which was an increase of 0.02Yo from its proportion measured

as ofJune 30,2021.

For the year ended December 31,2022, the City recognized OPEB expense of $132,680. At Decembet 31,2022, the City
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

TotalGovemmental Activities Business-type Activities
Defened Deferred

Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Defened
Inflows of
Resources

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

Net difference between projected and actual
investment eamings on OPEB plan investments

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total $ lll,954 $ $

s 4,639 $
107 15

$ $ $479
I1,069

5,1 18
I 18,384

s
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The $118,384 ($107,315 in the governmental activities and $11,069 in the business-type activities) reported as defened outflows
of resources related to OpEB risults from the City conhibutions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a

reduction of the net OpEB liability in the year ended December 31,2023. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending Govemmental Business-type
December 3l Activities Activities Total

$771$
200

(1,825)
5,493

479 $ 5,118

Asset Class 30 Year Geometric Retum

2023
2024
2025
2026

Totals

80
21

(188)
566

851

221
(2,0r3)
6.059

$

$ 4,639 $

Acluarial Assumptions - The total OPEB liability in this report is based on an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30,2021,
and a measurement date of June 30,2022. The total OPEB liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions
applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:

Price inflation: 2.0YoPetYear
Wage inflation: 2.75% (2.25% for teachers)
Salary increases: 5.4o/o average, including inflation
Investment rate of retum : 6.7 5oh net of OPEB plan investment expense, including inflation
Health care trend rate: Not applicable, given that the benefits are fixed stipends

Mortality rates were based on the Pub-2010 Health Retiree Mortality Tables with credibility adjustments for each group (Police

and Fire combined) and projected fully generational mortality improvements using Scale MP-2019.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30,2021, valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial experience

study, which was for the period July l, 2015 - June 30, 2019.

Long-term Rates of Return - The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investment was selected from a best estimate

,ung". d.t.trnined using the building block approach. Under this method, an expected future real return range is calculated
sepirately for each urrit "lus. Theie ranges- are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the

expectedfuture real rate ofreturn net ofinvestment expenses by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected

inflation. Following is a table presenting target allocations and long-term rates of return for 2022:

Target
Allocation

Broad US Equity (l)
Global Ex-US Equrty (2)

Total public equity
Real Estate Equity
Private Equity

Total private market equity
Private Debt
Core U.S. Fixed Income (3)
Inflation
Total

30.00Yo

20.00o/o

10.00%
10.00%

7.60Yo
'7.9(P/o

6.6tr/o
8.85%

7.25o/o

2.25Yo
7 -3oo/o

s0.00%

20.00o/o

5.00o/o

25.00o/o

0.00%
100.00%

Discoant Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability as of June 30,2022, was 6.75Yo. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employer contributions will be made under the current statute RSA
100-A:16 and that plan member contributions will be made under RSA 100-A:16. Based on those assumptions, the OPEB Plan's
fiduciary net position was projected to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-
term exiected rate of retu- on OpBg Plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the

collective total OPEB liability.
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Sensitivily of the Ciry's Proportionate Share of the OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The following table

presents ih.-City'r pioportionate share of the oPEB liability calculated using the discount rate of 6.75%o as well as what the
'City', 

proportionate share of the OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is l-percentage point
lower (5.75Yo) or l-percentage point higher (7 !75%) than the current rate:

Cunent Single

Rate Assumption
6.75o/o

Actuarial
Valuation

Date
lolo Decrease

5.75Vo

l%o Increase
7 -75o/o

Govemmental activities
Business-type activities

l:ur:re30,2022
I:ur:re30,2022

1,843,087
190.1 l7

1,697,650
175.1 l5

$ 1,570,984
162,049

$ $

$ 2,033,204 _g___-_1,872165_ $

O1EB plun Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the OPEB plan's fiduciary net position is available in the

separately issued New Hampshire Retirement System Cost-sharing Multiple Employer Defined Benefit OPEB Plan financial

report.

17-B City of Lebanon Retiree Health BeneJit Program

Plan Descriplion - GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financiql Reportingfor Postemployment Benefits Other Than
pensions, requires governments to account for other postemployment benefits (OPEB) on an accrual basis, rather than on a pay-

as-you-go Uasis. rf,e effect is the recognition of an actuarially determined expense on the Statement of Activities when a future

retiree earns their postemployment benefits, rather than when they use their postemployment benefit. The postemployment

benefit liability is recognized on the Statement of Net Position over time.

BeneJits provided - The City provides postemployment healthcare benefits for certain eligible retirees. The City provides

medical benefits to its eligible retirees.

Employees Covered by BeneJit Terms -At January 1,2022, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive employees or benefrciaries currently receiving benefit payments

Active employees
Total participants covered by OPEB plan

59
176

Totat OpEB Liability - The City's total OPEB liability of $1,166,048 was measured as of January 1,2022, and was determined
by an actuarial valuation ofthat date.

Acruurial Assumptions and Other Inputs - The total OPEB liability of $ 1 , 166,048 in the January I , 2022, actuarial valuation

was determined using the following aituarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement,

unless otherwise specified:
Discourt Rate: 3.72o/o

Heahhcare Cost Trend Rates:
Current Year Trend 1.V/o

Second Year Trend 6.5%
Decrement 0.5%
Uftimate Trend 4.5%
Year Uftimate Trend is Reached 2027

The discount rate was based on the index provided by Bond Buyer 2}-Bond General Obligation Index based on the 2o-year AA
municipal bond rate as of December 31,2022'
Mortality rates were based on the RPH-2014 Total Dataset headcount-weighted fully generational mortality table with projection
scale MP-2019.

235
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Changes in tlte Totul OPEB Liability

OPEB liability, beginning of year
Changes for the year:

Service cost
Interest
Assumption changes and difference between actual

and expected experience
Benefit payments

OPEB liability, end of year

Business-type
Activities Total

$ 981,347 $ t8t,796 $ 1,163,143

Governmental
Activities

45,140

22,827

(1,408)
(64108)

_$__2q2q_

(261) (1,66e)
(11,876) (75,984)

66.048$ 182,250 $ l,l

8,362

4,229

53,502
27,056

Sensitivity of the City's OPEB Liabitity to Changes in the Discount Rate - The January l, 2022, actuarial valuation was
prepared using a discount rate of 3.72%. If the discount rate were lYo lower than what was used, the OPEB liability would
increase to $1,255,418, or by 7.66%. If the discount rate were l% higher than what was used, the OPEB liability would decrease
to $1,048,226, or by I 0. l0%.

Discount Rate

TotalOPEB Liabiliff lolo Decrease Basellne 3.72%o lolo Increase

$ $ 983,798
192,250

$ 884,391

163,835
1,059,200

t96.2t8
$ 1,2s5,418 $ I,166,048 $ t

Sensitivity of the City's OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcure Cost Trend Rates - The January l, 2022, actuarial
valuation was prepared using an initial trend rate of 7.00%. If the trend rate were 1olo lower than what was used, the OPEB
liability would decrease to $1,053,318, or by 9.67%. If the trend rate were 1% higher than what was used, the OPEB liability
would increase to $1,297,914, orby 11.31%.

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

Governmental activities
Business-type activities

Total OPEB Liability
Governmental activities
Business-type activities

Changes in assumptions
Differences between expected and actual experience

Total $ 148,353 $ 425,969 $ 27,483

$ 180,490
324,391

lolo Decrease
6.00010

Decreasing
to 3.50%o

Baseline
7.00%

Decreasing
to 4.50Yo

l%o Increase
8.00%

Decreasing
to 5.50o/o

$ $888,687
164,631

983,798
182,250

1,095,054

202,860
$

$ 1,053,318 $ 1,166,048 J__J2n2J!_
OPEB Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resoarces, and Deferred InJIows of Resources Reluted to OPEB - For the year ended
December 31,2022, the City recognized OPEB expense of $24,5 16. At December 31,2022, the City reported deferred outflows
of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

GovernmentalActivities Business-typeActivitiesffiffi
Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources Resources Resources

Total
Deferred

Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

$ 75,684
72,669

$ 152,280 $
273,689

$ 28,210
50,702

$ 78,912

$ 89,705
86,1 3 1

14,021
13,462
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in
OPEB expense as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending
December 31,

Govemmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities Total

2023
2024
2025
2026
2027

Thereafter
Totals

$ (8,7se)
(8,75e)
(8,661)
(8,30e)

(10,457)
(6.484)

$ (277,616) $ (51.429)

$ (47,283)
(47,283)
(46,7st)
(44,8s4)
(s6,Me)
(34,ee6)

$ (56,042)
(s6,042)
(s5,4t2)
(53,163)
(66,e06)
(4r,480)

s G2e,047\:

Principal
$ 97,405

207,806
3lg,4l5
235,968

1,606,273

NOTE 18 _ STATE AID TO WATER POLLUTION PROTECTS

The City is due to receive from the State of New Hampshire the following amounts in the form of state aid to water pollution
projects:

Govemmental Activities Activities
Bond Issued

C-769 Wastewater Treatment Facility Upgrade
C-844 Combined Sewer Overflow
C-903 Dana & Craft Avenue Area
C-924 Combined Sewer Overflow - Phase 1

C-928Etna Road - NH Rt 10 Sewer Replacement
C-874 WWTF Phase 2 Upgrade and Energy

Evaluation Improvements
C-899 Combined Sewer Overflow & Utility

Improvements - Phase 9

Principal
$

138,537
212,944
157,311

41,877
34,272
35,724

$
180,414
247,2t6
1 93,035

$ 9,79s
62,816
51,408
53,586

243,444

$ 107,200
270,622
370,823
289,554

1,849,7l7

Interest Total Total

$

1,882,447 274,526 2,156,973

w;-srm.ziT"rq-ffi ffi-tffi -ffi:::-::
Under New Hampshire RSA Chapter 486, the City receives from the State of New Hampshire a percentage of the annual

amortization charges on the originil rortr resulting from various projects. At December 31,2022, the City is due to receive the

following annual amounts to offset debt payments:

Govemmental Activities Business-tvoe ActivitiesFiscal Year Ending
December 31, Principal

$ 314,042
314,142
314,142
314,051

312,822
1,465,883

1,321,051

467,033

$ 4,823,166

Principal Interest Total Interest Total

2023
2024
2025
2026
202'.7

2028-2032
2033-2037
2038-2042

Totals

$ 31,046

3l,ll4
3l,ll4
31,052
31,052

154,712

150,249
48,453

13,226

12,390

|,542
10,697

9,848

36,513
16,259

1,398

S M,272
43jM
42,656
4t,749
40,900

191,225

166,508
49,851

$ 84,636
79,530
73,500

67,493
61,480

224,666
94,242

14,028

398,678

393,672

387,&2
381,5M
3',743W

t,690,549
t,415,293

481.061

$ $

$ 508.792 $ I I 1,873 $ 620,665 $ 699.575 $ 5,522,741
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NOTE T9 _ ENCUMBRANCES

The outstanding encumbrances are amounts needed to pay any commitments related to purchase orders and contracts that remain

unperformed at December 31,2022 and are as follows:

General fund:
General government
Pubtc safety
Highways and streets
Cufture and recreation

Total encumbrances

$ 809,920
97,733

464,57s
47.940

$ 68

NOTE 20 _ NET POSITION
Net position reported on the goveflrment-wide, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds Statements of Net Position at

December 31,2022 include the following:

Government-wide Financial Statements

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities Total

Fiduciary
Fund

Net investment in capital assets:
Net book value, all capital assets

Less:
Bonds payable - direct placements
Notes/loans payable - direct borrowings
Premium

Total net investment in capital assets

Restricted net position:
Capital projects
Library
Heritage fund - Dana House restoration
Perpetual care - principal balance
Downtown TIF District
Airport/Tech Park TIF District
Water investment fees

Total restricted net position

Unrestricted (deficit)
Total net position

$ 115,852,519 $

(30,t22,952)
(8,910,478)

(ls,061,622)
(30,3e8,562)

(45,184,574)
(39,309,040)
(4,407,122L

115,494,048 $ 231,346,s67 $

r.394.835)
73,806,802 142.M5.831

955,019
108,633

25,000
t,@6,815

959,897

39
768,698

2,740384 1,723,717

(11,227,607) 10,963,310 (264,297) 5187,426

955,019
108,633

25,000

1,&6,815
959,897

39
768,698

4.464.101

$ 65,319,579 $ 81.326.056 $ 146-645-635 $ 5,487,426
(Continued)
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Funds

Net pos ition continued:

Net investment in capital assets:

Net book value, all capital assets

Less:
Bonds payable - direct placements
Notes/loans payable - direct borrowings
Premium

Total net investment in capital assets

Restricted net position:
Capital projects
Water investment fees

Total restricted net position
Unrestricted (deficit)
Total net position

Nons pe ndable:
Prepaid items
Permanent fund - principal balance

Total nonspendable fund balance
Restricted:

Heritage fund - donations
Public lfurary
Downtown TIF District
AirporVTech Park TIF District

Total restricted fund balance
Committed:

Expendable trust
Heritage fund
Police public safety revolving
Lebanon open space

Fire public safety revolving
Recreation revolving
Impact fees
Cemetery maintenance
Public assistance revolving

Total committed fund balance

Sewage
Collection

and Disposal

Solid
Waste

Disposal

Water
Treatment and
Distribution

Municipal
Airport Total

$ 57,646,794 $ 13,642,082 $ 31,830,392 $ l 15,494,048

(15,061,622)
(30,398,562)

(1, 394,835)
12,072,030 68,639,029

2 I 0,780 955,019
768,698

(7,725,r38)
(20,369,420)

(722,3s4)

(5e0,000)
(238,984)
120.255)

(6,448,58e)
(9,790, I 58)

(s47,371)
15,044,274

599,203
768,698

$ 12,374,780

(297,8es-)

(4,855)

28,829,882

145,036

145,036 1,367,901 210,780 I,723,717

8,69s,270
$ 37,670,188

(800,862)
$ 1 1,891 ,98 1

2,703,159 365,743ffiZ- Tit64s-F
10,963,310T-I56--

NOTE 21 - GOVERNMENTAL FAND BALANCES

Governmental fund balances reported on the fund financial statements at December 31,2022 include the following:

General
Fund

Capital
Projects

Fund
Nonmajor

Funds

Total
Governmental

Funds

$ 389,457 $ 10,000 $
1,646,81L

s 399,457
t,&6,815
2"046.272389,4s7

25,000

10,000 l5

108,633

9s9,897
39

25,000

108,633

9s9,897
39

25.000 1,068,569

227,337
1,453,630

67,226
101,935
483,338

30,866
150,000

1.093.569

2,6@,263
6,560

2,664,263
6,560

227,337

1,453,630

67,226

101,935
483,338

30,866
1 50-000

2,670,823 5,185,155

6l

,5 14332
(Continued)
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G ov ernment al fund b al anc es continue d :

Assigned:
Encumbrances
Abatements
Grants
Restricted funds
Emergency management

Total assigned fund balance
Unassigned (deficit):

General fund
Capital improvements (defi c it)

Total unassigned fund balance (deficit)

Total governmental fund balances (deficit)

General
Fund

Capital
Projects

Fund
Nonmajor

Funds

Total
Govemmental

Funds

1,420,168
595,270

15,909

304,636
165,306

1,420,168

595,270
r5,909

304,636
165.306

2,501,289 2.501.289

10,9t5,290
(23.4s5)

10,915,290 10.891.835

$ 16,501,859 $ (13,455) $ 716 $ 21,718,120

NOTE 22 _ RISK MANAGEMENT
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of assets; errors or omissions;

injuries to employees; or natural disasters. During fiscal year 2022, the City was a member of the New Hampshire Public Risk

Management Exchange (Primex3) Workers' Compensation and Property/Liability programs.

The New Hampshire public Risk Management Exchange (Primex3) Workers' Compensation and PropertylLiability programs are

pooled risk management programs under RSAs 5-B and 281-A. Coverage was provided from January 1,2022, to December 31,

ZOZz,ay primexiwhichietiined $1,000,000 of each workers' compensation loss, $500,000 of each liability loss, and $200'000
of each-property loss. The Board has decided to self-insure the aggregate exposure and has allocated funds based on actuarial

analysis for that purpose. The workers' compensation section of the ;lf-intut*." membership agreement permits Primex3 to

make additional assessments to members should there be a deficiency in conhibutions for any member year, not to exceed the

member's annual contribution. GASB Statement No. 10 requires members of a pool with a sharing risk to disclose if such an

assessment is probable, and a reasonable estimate of the imount, if any. ln 2022, the City paid $369,005 for workers'

Compensatio n^and $294,699 for property/Liability, respectively. At this time, Primex3 foresees no likelihood of any additional

assessment for this or any prior year.

The City continues to carry commercial insurance for all other risks of loss. Settled claims resulting from these risks have not

exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any ofthe past three fiscal years.

NOTE 23 -CAFETERIA BENEFIT PLAN

Effective July l, 1991, the City implemented a cafeteria benefit plan pursuant to Section 125 of the IRS code. Under this plan,

eligible 
"n1pioy"., 

may direct a contribution, made by the City, into any combination of the following benefit categories:

L Premium Conversion Benefit for Group Medical and Dental Plans;
2. Healthcare Flexible Spending Account; or
3. Dependent Care Reimbursement Account

In addition to directing the City's contribution to the above categories, eligible employees may elect to conffibute pre-tax dollars

to these categories. Under no circumstances may an employee direct more than $2,850 annually into the Healthcare Flexible

Spending Account or $5,000 annually into the Dependint Care Reimbursement Account. This cap applies to both City
contribuiions and employee pre-tax contributions. There are no limits on contributions to the Premium Conversion Benefit for
Group Medical and Dental Plans.

10,915,290
(23.455),
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,2022

NOTE 24 _ SECAMTY AGKEEMENT
The City entered a security agreement with Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center (DHMC) on May 17,2013. The purpose of
the agriement is to finance ihe possible future expansion of the City sewer system to the DHMC properties' Under the

agreement, DHMC established an escrow account in the amount of $475,000. At December 31,2022, the balance in the escrow
alcount was $549724. The City may only access these funds if certain terms in the security agreement are met related to the

expansion of services. If no action is taken, the security agreement will expire after ten years.

NOTE 25 _ COVID-I,
As a result of the spread of the COVID-I9 Coronavirus, economic uncertainties continue. The duration of these uncertainties
and the ultimate financial effects cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

The City was allotted a total of $l ,429,11 8 in federal funding from the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) in 2021 . A total of
S7l4,5ig, or 50o/o, of the funding was receivedin202l. The remainder was received in2022. Eligible uses of these funds

include pandemic response or its ;egative impacts, workforce/personnel, including payroll andhazard/premium pay, provision of
govemment services to the extent of reduced revenue, and necessary water, sewer, and broadband investment. For the year

ended December 31, 2022,the City spent $915,890 of the funds received. The remaining funds are included in deferred inflows
of resources until eligible expenditures have been made.

The full extent of the financial impact cannot be determined as of the date of the financial statements'

NOTE 26_CONTINGENCIES
The City participates in various federal grant programs, the principal of which are subject to program compliance audits pursuant

to the Single RuOit ect as amended. Aicordingly, the City's compliance with applicable grant requirements will be established

at a future date. The amount of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be determined at this

time, although the City anticipates such amounts, if any, will be immaterial.

NOTE 27 -SaBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent events are events or transactions that occur after the balance sheet date, but before the financial statements are

issued. Recognized subsequent events are events or transactions that provided additional evidence about conditions that existed

at the balance sheet date, including the estimates inherent in the process of preparing the financial statements. Nonrecognized
subsequent events are events that provide evidence about conditions that did not exist at the balance sheet date but arose after the

date. Management has evaluated subsequent events through February 28, 2024, the date the December 31, 2022 financial
statements were available to be issued, and the no event that requires recognition or disclosure.
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EXHIBIT G

CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
&hedale of the City's hoportiorute Share of Net Pension Liability

New Hampshire Retbe,nsnt Slstcm Cost Sharhg Maltiple Enployer Defined Bewft Pkn
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2022

Utuudiled
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Fiscal year-end

Measurement date

City's:

Proprtion of the net

pensicn liability

Proportionate share ofthe net

pension liability

Covered palroll

Proportionate share ofthe net

pension liability as a percentage

of its covered payroll

Plan fiduciary net positiot

as a percentage ofthe
total pension liability

210.lf/o 177.86Vo

59.}lVo 66.3T/o

December 31,

2013

June 30,

2013

0.54o/o

$ 23,325,532

$ 11,097378

December 31,

2014

June 30,

2014

0.520/o

$ 1q345y'30

$ 10,8769s1

December 31,

20t6

June 30,

2016

0.52%

$ 27,786,081

$ 11,555,m2

December 31, December 31,

2017 2018

December 31,

2020

June 30,

2020

0.4f/o

$ 31y'70,s93

$ 12,8%955

December 31,

2021

June 30,

2021

0.510h

$ n,s87!37

$ 13,820J70

December 31,

20t5

June 30,

2015

0.520/o

$ 20,607,815

$ 112063s9

June 30,

2017

0.53'/o

$ 25378,401

$ 12J00,824

June 30,

2018

0.5tr/o

$ 23,995,698

$ 11,902,341

December 31,

20t9

June 30,

20t9

0.500/o

$ 23,84s,366

g 12287fis

December 31,

2022

June 30
2022

0.50%

$ 28,7n91s

$ 14,370,483

183.8flo

65.Mo/o

240.450 203.750

62.66Y0

201.6V/o

64.73o/o

1%.060/o

65.59/o

244.020/o

58.72Vo58.3trlo

163.43o/o 2N.360/o

72.no/r 65.120h
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EXHIBIT H
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Schedub ofCity Contibulions - Pensiow

New Hampshbe Retitemenl System Cosl Sharing Mallipb Etttployer Defiwd Beneftl Plu
For the Fkcal Year Ended December 31, 2022

Unaudited

December 31, December 31, Dscember 31,Fiscal vear-end

Measurment date

Contactually required

contnbutions

Contrbutions in relation

to the confractually

required contrftutions

Conf rtution defrciency (excess)

City's covered payroll

Contrbutions as a percentage

ofcovered payroll

$1347.646$1572.029$1J4s20s$1,871,07491927593$2,106,23992,1s6,6s252,18sJ77$2J41,483$'2fi6407

December 31,

2013

Jme 30,

2013

December 31,

2014

June 30,

2014

December 31,

2015

June 30,

2015

2016

June 30,

2016

December 31,

2019

June 30,

2019

December 31,

2020

June 30,

2020

16.950/o

December 31,

2021

June 30,

2021

December 31,

20n2017 2018

June 30, June 30
2017 20't8

$

June 30,

20n

$

16.69/o 19.5V/o

(1347.(1;6\ (1.672.U9\ fi;t45205\ (l.871.074) (1.927.693\ Q.106239\ Q^1s6.65D (2.18st7D (2341.483) (2fi64y\

$ $ s $ $ $ $ $

$ 11097378 $ 10.876.951 $ 11206359 $ 11,555,902 $

12.14o/o 15.37% 15 57% rc.v/, 15.1*/o

r21N.824 $ 11.902.341 $ 12287.475 $ 12396.9s5 $ 14,033,071 $ t4WJ62

17.70o/o 1'l.55o/o



CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTE TO THE REQT]IRED SAPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION _
PENSION LIABILITY

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,2022

schedule of the city's Proportionate share of Net Pension Liability and
Schedule of City Contributions - Pensions

Changes in BeneJit Terms - There were no changes in benefit terms for the current period.

Changes in Assumptions - Salary increases changed to 5 .4o/o from 5.6Vo in the current period.

Methods and Assumptions (Jsed to Determine Contribulion Rates - A full list of the methods and assumptions used to
determine the contribution rates can be found in the most recent actuarial valuation report. This report can be located at

www.nhrs.org.

As required by GASB Statement No. 68, and as amended by GASB Statement No. 71, Exhibits G and H represent the actuarial

determined costs associated with the City's pension plan at December 31,2022. These schedules are presented to illustrate the

requirement to show information for l0 years.
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EXHIBITI
CITY OF LEBANON, NEWHAMPSHIRE

Schedule of the City's Propottionate Sharc of the Net Other Postemployment Benefils Liability
New Hampshire Retirement System Cost Sharing Multiple Employer Dejined Benefrt Plan

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2022
Unaudited

Fiscal year-end

Measurement date

City's proportion of the net OPEB liabftty

City's proportionate share of the net OPEB
liability (asset)

City's covered payroll

City's proportionate share of the net OPEB
liability (asset) as a percentage ofits covered payroll

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage ofthe total
OPEB liability

December 31,

2016

June 30
2016

$ 1.695.898

$ 1r,555,902

December 31,
2017

June 30,
2017

0.35% 0.36%

December 31,
20r8

June 30,
2018

0.52%

s 2,367A18

$ l r,902,341

December 31,
2019

Jme 30,
2019

0.st%

$ 2,239,957

s 12287,47s

December 31,

2020

Jme 30,
2020

0.46%

$ 2,031,548

$ 12,896,955

December 31,

2021

Jme 30,
2021

0.48%

$ 1,919,830

$ 13,820,770

December 31,

2022

June 30,
2022

0.50%

$ t,872,76s

$ 14,370,483

$ 1,629,045

s 12,700,824

r4.68%

5.21%

12.83%

7.9lYo

19.89%

733%

18.23Vr

7.75o/o

15.75o/"

7.74Yo

13.89% 13.03%

7.74% 70.640/o
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EXHIBIT J
CITY OF LEBANON, NEIYHAMPSHIRE

Schedule ofCig Contributions - Other Postemployment BenertE
New Hampshirc Retbement System Cost Sharing Multiple Employer DeJined BeneJit Plan

For ke Fiscal Year Ended December 3 I, 2022
Unaudited

Fiscal year-end

Measurement date

Contractually required conf ibution

Contributions in relation to the contractually

required contribution

Confr ibution deficiency (excess)

City's covered payroll

Contnbutions as a percentage of covered palnoll

(203.555) (?r1 169)

S

s 11.5ss.902 $ 12.700.u4

1.76% t.6%

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 zDt

June 30, June 30,
2018

Q28.719\

Jue 30,
2019

Q33.t66\

June 30,
2020

June 30,
2021

December 31,
2022

June 30,

2022
June 30,

2016 2017

$ 203,sss $ 21r,169 g 228:719 $ 233,166 $ 2ts\37 $ 230,831 $ 208,687

$ $ $

Q|s.437) (230"831) (208 687)

$ $

1.40%

s 11902_341 S 12287.47s S 12.896_955 $ 14.033.071 g 1497162

1.92o/o 1.Wo 1.67% 1&o/o

o\
oo



EXHIBITK
CITY OF LEBANON, NEI,Y HAMPSHIRE

Schedule of Changes in the Cityts Total Other Postemployment BeneJits Liability and Related Ralios
Retiree Health Benefit Program

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31' 2022
Unaudited

December 31,

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

s 1,692,9n $ 1,628,158 $ 1,652,115 $ I,166,961 $ 1,163'143OPEB liability, beginning of year

Changes for the year:
Service cost
Interest
Assumption changes and difference between

actual and expected experience
Benefit payments

OPEB liability, end of year

Covered payroll

Total OPEB liability as a percentage
of covered payroll

55,750
58,654

50, l 53
66,921

39,303
30,915

45,453
24,840

s3,502
27,056

(el,18 l)
(87,e76) 1 l7)

(466,7s2)
(88,620)

7,751
1.862)

(r,669)
(7s,e84)(8

$ 1,628,158 $ 1,652,115 $ 1,166,961 $ 1,163.143

$ 8,374,426 $ 10,442,024 $ 10,703,075

19.73Yo tt.18% 10.870/o

$ I,166,048

$ 11,550,479

t0.10%

$ 8,170,172

19.93o/o

The Notes to the Required Supplementary Information * Other Postemployment Benefit Liability is an integral part of this
schedule.
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO THE REQAIRED SAPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION _
OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS LIABILITY

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,2022

Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of Net Other Postemployment Bene/its Liability and
Schedule of City Contributions - Other Postemployment Benelits

Changes in BeneJit Terms - There were no changes in benefit terms for the current period.

Changes in Assumptions - Salary increases changed to 5.4Yo from 5 .60/o in the current period.

Methods and Assumptions (Jsed to Determine Contribution Rates- A full list of the methods and assumptions used to
determine the contribution rates can be found in the most recent actuarial valuation report. This report can be located at

www.nhrs.org.

As required by GASB Statement No. 75, Exhibits I and J represent the actuarial determined costs associated with the City's other
postemploymlnt benefits at December 31,2022. These schedules are presented to illustrate the requirement to show information
ior t0 yeais. However, until a full l0-year trend is compiled, information is presented for those years for which information is
available.

Schedule of Changes in City's Total Other Postemployment BeneJits Liability and Related Ratios

Changes in Beneftt Terms - There were no changes in benefit terms for the current period.

Changes in Assumptions - The discount rate changed to 3.72Yo from 2.03Yo in the current period. The medical trend rate was

adjusted to i .yyo from 6.5% and the year the ultimate rate is expected to be reached was updated to 2027 from 2025. Finally, the

mortality improvement scale was updated toMP'2021from MP-2019.

As required by GASB Statement No. 75, Exhibit K represents the actuarial determined costs associated with the City's other
postemployment benefits at December 31,2022. The schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for
iO yeais. However, until a full l0-year trend is compiled, information is presented for those years for which information is

available.
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SCHEDULE 1

CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Major General Fund

Schedule of Estimated and Actual Revenues (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis)
For the Fiscal Year Ended Decembet 31' 2022

$ 23,093,868
5,000

5,000

1,883,022

100,000

25.086,890

23,202,930
5,124
5,956

t,878,970

Variance
Positive

(Negative)

109,062
124

956
(4,0s2)
37.576

Estimated Actual

Taxes:
Property
Yield
Excavation
Payment in lieu of taxes

Interest and penafties on taxes
Total from taxes

Licenses, permits, and fees:

Motor vehicle permit fees
Building permits
Other

Total from licenses, petmits, and fees

Intergovernmental:
State:

Meals and rooms distribution
Highway block grant
Water pollution grants
Other

Federal:
Other

Total from intergovemmental

Charges for services:
Income from departments

Miscellaneous:
Sale of municipal property
Interest on investments
Other

Total from miscellaneous

Other hnancing sources :

Transfers in

Total revenues and other financing sources

Unassigned fturd balance used to reduce tax rate

Amounts voted from fund balance
Total revenues, other financing sources, and use of fund balance

$ $

143,666

2,667,700
340,000

70,700

2,769,382
1,018,388

83.606

101,682

678,388
12.906

3,078,400

1,312,287

324,121
45,160

t92A6t

61,480
1.935.509

3.871.376 72976

1,312,28',1

322,860
45,150

189,691

(1,261)
(10)

(2,770)

8.15169,631
1,939,619 4,110

t,661,690 1.794,706 133.016

51,490
420_860

20,510
86,483

415.009

20,510
34,993
(5,851)

49,652472,350 s22.002

2,131,370 2,160,625 29.255

34,366,20e _s___$fl&qg4-
1,078,461

2,771,450

$ 38,216,120

s 1,1s2,675

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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SCHEDULE 2
CITY OF LEBANON, NEIY HAMPSHIRE

Major General Fund
Schedule of Appropriations, Expenditures, and Encambtances (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis)

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2022

Encumbered
from Prior

Year Appropriations Expendihres

Encumbered
to Subsequent

Year

Variance
Positive

(Negative

Current:
General govemment:

Executive
Election and re gistration
Financ ial administration
Legal
Personne I administration
Planning and zoning
General government buildings

Cemeteries
Insurance, not otherwise allocated
Advertising and regional associations

Other
Total general government

Public safety:
Police
Fire
Building inspection
Other

Total public safety

Highways and streets:
Administration
Highways and streets
Bridges
Street lighting
Other

Total highways and sheets

Welfare:
Administration and direct assistance

Vendor payrnents and other
Total welfare

Culture and recreation:
Parks and recreation
Library
Patriotic purposes

Total cuhure and recreation

Conservation

Debt service:
Principal of long-term debt
Interest on long-term debt

Total debt service

Other fnancing uses:

Transfers out

Total appropriations, expenditures,
other financing uses, and encumbrances

$ 45,978

57,287
867,723

15,300

t8,663
2,438

716,698 $
624,596

3,303,553
176,491

3,700,910
615,729
200,890
M,674

230,578
24,829

249-710

90,562 $

87,287
534,101

3,031

30,400
60,339
4,200

(26,512)
67,034

157,239

123,509

402,699
18,154

5,659

8,766
(r,578)

I

$ 734,770
721,630

3,127,r70
300,000

4,091,340
645,620
264,450

57,640
229,000
24,830

249,710
r0A46,160

$

1,007,389 9.888.658 809,920 7s4.971

193,304

24,302
5,949,410
4,775,030

460,790

943,600
12,128,830 I1.680,569

5,s93,348
4,7|,982

459,561

915,678

86,461

|,272
462,905

76,W8
1,229

)1 q))
56&134217,606 733

21,590
I,199,891

1,163,070

3,062,930
3,500

89,920
262,500

I,165,450
3,787,s69

81,408
274.832

88,379

376,196

5,309,259

(6e,169)
99,0s6

3,500

8,512
(12,332)
29.5671,221,481 4.581.920 464-575

290,320
264.580

278,8s6
264,580

|,464

554,900 543.436 11,464

32,416
60,798

1,109,720
1,383,440

1,|6,740
1,425,732

7.000

47,940 (22,544)
18,506

7-000

93,214 2.500.160 2,549,472 47-940 (4,038)

10,870 10,869

3,5 15,170 3,509,5 1 5 5,655
10,032
15,687

1,322,820 1,312,788

4,837,990

3.1 55.290 3,155,290

$ 2,5 39.690 s 38.216.120 $

See Independent Auditor's RePort.
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SCHEDULE 3
CITY OF LEBANON, NEIF HAMPSHIRE

Maior General Fund
Schedute ofChanges in Unassigned Fund Balance

For the Fiscal Year Ended Decembet 31 2022

Unassigned fund balance, beginning (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis)

Changes:
Unassigned fund balance used to reduce 2022 tax rate
Amounts voted from fund balance

2022Budget summary:
Revenue surplus (Schedule l)
Unexpended balance of appropriations (Schedule 2)

2022Budget surplus

Decrease in nonspendable fund balance
Increase in assigned fund balance (non-encumbrance)

Unassigned fund balance, ending (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis)

Reconciliation on Now-GAAP Budgetary Basis to GAAP Basis

To record deferred property taxes not collected within 60 days ofthe
fiscal year-end, not recognized on a budgetary basis

Elimination of the allowance for uncollectible taxes

Unassigned fund balance, ending, GAAP basis (Exhibit C-1)

s 1,152,675
1,375,786

$ 12,988,865

(1,078,461)
(2,771,450)

2,528,461

322,551
(447,s2 1)

11,542,445

(777,15s)

150,000

$ 10,915,290

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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SCHEDALE 4
CITY OF LEBANON, NEI(HAMPSHIRE

Nonmajor G overnmental Funds
Combining Balance Sheet

December 31 2022

Special Revenue Funds

Public

Library

Police Public

Safety

Lebanon Fire Public

Safety

Revolving
Open Farmers

MarketSpace

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

Investments

Receivables, net of allowance for uncollectable:

Accorutts
Interfrnd receivable

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Interflnd payable

Total liabfties

Fund balances:
Nonspendable

Restricted
Committed

Total firnd balances

Total liabfties and flnd balances

$ lls,llo $ 210,520 $ tA7o,t73 $ 67,231 $

t6,817

4.884

$ 1,470,173 _$__q,nr_ $$ 122.994 s 227.337

$ $ $ 16,543 $ 5$
r4,361
14,361 16,543 5

108,633

227.337

g 122,994 $ 227.337

67,226

1.453.630 67.226

$ 1.470.173 $ 67.231 $

227.337



Special Revenue Funds

Recreation
Revolving

Impact
Fees

Cemetery
Maintenance

Public
Assistance
Revolving

Downtown
TIF District

Airport/
Tech Park
TIF District

Permanent
Fund Total

$ 102,983 $ 483,338 $ 30,866 $ 150,000 $ 959,897 $ 3e$ 76,878
1,606,566

150

$ 3,670,03s
1,606,566

16,817

5,034

$ 102.983 $ 483,338 $ 30,866 $ 150,000 $ 959,897$39$1 $

$ 1,048 $ $ $ $ $ $ s 17,596

51 14036.779

1.048 36,7',19 68,736

959,897 39
r,646,815 1,646,815

1,068,569

101,935 483.338 30,866 150.000 )5 14.332

101.935 483,338 30.866 150,000 959.897 39

$ 102.983 $ 483,338 $ 30.866 $ 150,000 $ $3e$l J___1,2%Ae_

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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SCHEDALE 5
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Non mai or G ov er nme nlal Funds
combining schedule ofRevenues, Expenditures, and changes in Fund Balances

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 3I' 2022

Special Revenue Funds

Public
Library

Police Public

Safety

Lebanon Fire Public

Safety
Revolving

$
2,246

20,391

Open Farmers
MarketSpace

Reve nue s:
Taxes
Intergovemmental
Charges for services

Miscellaneous
Unrealized loss on investments

Total revenues

Expe nditures:
Current:

General govemment
Public safety
Culhre and recreation

Total expendihres

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures

Other fnancing sources (uses):

Transfers in

Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances

Fund balances, beginning
Fund balances, ending

208.678 192,737

$ $ $ $

192,737

208,678 9,853 2,276

9-853 22,637 2.276

r94,890 22,385

223,023 3.500

223,023 194.890 22.385 3.500

(14,345) (2.153) 9,853 252 (1,224)

4,884

4.884

(e,461)

I 18.094

(2,153)

229,490

9,853

777 66,974

$ 227,337 $ 1y'53,630 $ 67.226 $-

252 (1,224)
1,224

$ t08.633



Soecial Revenue Funds

Recreation
Revolving

Impact
Fees

Cemetery
Maintenance

Public
Assistance
Revolving

Downtown
TIF District

AirporV
Tech Park
TIF District

Permanent
Fund Total

$$

117,356 10,766

$ 728,546 $ t2$

1,787

$ $

4t,521

728,558
2,246

368,835

392,237
(287,437)

$

155,707

(287.437)

155,707 117.356 10,766 t2 1,204439

9,962 9,962
217,275

3'77 t9
9,962 6M,9s6

1r7,356 10,766 730,333 t2 (zss,878) 599.483

150,000 154,884

184)(288,320) (4,884)
(4,884)

(260,762)

(471,300)(332,e80)

(215,624)

698,962

150,000

4,511
97,424

10,766

20,100

r50,000 442,013

517,884

t2
27

128,183

5,r01,533

151,196

151,196

4,51I

(332,980)

$ 10r,935 $ 483,338 $ 30,866 $ 15o,ooo $ el9Ie7

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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SCHEDALE 6
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Custodial Funds
Combining Schedule of Fiduciary Net Position

December 31, 2022

Custodial Funds

Taxes Trust Funds

$ 370,038
3,482,865

School
Impact Fees

$ 264,784

State
Fees Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Intergovernmental receivables

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Intergovernmental payable - due to school district

NET POSITION
Unrestricted

$

16,163,703
16,163,703 3,852,903

$ 634,822
3,482,865

16,163,703
264,784 20,281,390

$

16,163,703 26r,738 

-

16,42s,441

$ 3,046 $ $ 3,855,949$ s 3,852,903

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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SCHEDULE 7
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Custodial Funds
Combining Schedule of Changes in Fidaciary Net Position

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31. 2022

Custodial Funds

Taxes Trust Funds
School

Impact Fees

State
Fees Total

Additions:
Contributions
Investment eamings
Tax collections for other govemments
State fees collected

Total additions

Deductions:
Change in fair market value
Administrative expenses
Payments of taxes to other govemments
Payments of State fees

Total deductions

Change in net position
Net position, beginning
Net position, ending

$ $ $ 60,440 $ $ 60,440
42,897

39,333,204
820,810

40,257,351

218,649
414,317

39,333,204
820,810

40,786,980

(529,629)

42,897

39,333,204

39,333,204 42,897 60,440
820,810
820,8 l 0

218,649
140,327 273,990

39,333,204

39,333,204 358,976 273,990
820,810
820,8 l0

(316,07e)
4,168,982

(2 l 3,550)
216,596 4,385 ,578

$ 3,852,903 $ 3,046

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORTS
AND SINGLE AUDIT ACT SCHEDULES



Pronzx& SlxunRSoN
P rofe s sional As s o ciation/Certifi ed P ublic Accountants

tq3 North Main street .

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCAL REPORTING
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AADITING STANDARDS

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of the City Council
City of Lebanon
Lebanon, New Hampshire

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards

applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Stqndards issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial statements of the govemmental activities, business-type activities, each

major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Lebanon as of and for the year ended December 31,

20i2, and the related notis to the finincial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Lebanon's basic financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated February 28,2024'

Report on Internal Control Over Financial R.eporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Lebanon's intemal control over
financial reporting (internai control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the
purpose of-expreising our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the City of Lebanon's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the

City of Lebanon's internal control.

A deficiency in internql control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the

normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A
materiql weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely
basis. A signiJicant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a

material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not
designed to identiff all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these

limiiations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.

However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Lebanon's financial statements are free from material
misitatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements,
noncomplian". rith which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on

compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The

.etuitt of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government
Auditing Standards.
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City of Lebanon
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and On Compliance and Other Matters

Eased on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Purpose of This Report

The purpose ofthis report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that

testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's intemal control or on compliance. This report is an

integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Stqndards in considering the s internal

control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

February 28,2024
Concord, New Hampshire

&
Professional Association
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,,*L!"?,,Y,,:,X,*:,!il"r:#l:,il,,,.
lg3 North Main Street .

REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR
FEDERAL PROGRAM AND REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL

OVER COMPLANCE REQAIRED BY THE ANIFORM GUIDANCE

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of the City Council
City of Lebanon
Lebanon, New Hampshire

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

Opinion on Eoch Maior Federal Program

We have audited the Cify of Lebanon's compliance with the types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in

the OMB Compliance SLpplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City of Lebanon's major federal

programs for the year endeb December 31,2022. The City of Lebanon's major federal programs are identified in the summary of
auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the City of Lebanon's complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to above that

could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended December 31,2022.

Basisfor Opinion on Euch Maior Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standqrds issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards

lUiiform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are furlher described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the City of Lebanon and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with
relevant etirical requiremenis relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal

diiermination of the City of Lebanon's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.

Re s p o n s i b il ities of M anag e me nt fo r C o mp lian ce

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, implementation, and

maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and

provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the City of Lebanon's federal programs.

Auditor's Responsibilitiesfor the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance requirements

referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the City of Lebanon's compliance based on

our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level ofassurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an

audit conducted in accordance with CAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect

material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for
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City of Lebanon
Report on Compliancefor Each Maior Federal Program and

Report on Internal Control Over Compliunce Required by the Uniform Guidance

that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the-override of
internal control. Noncompliance wiih the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, lndividually or in the iggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the

report on compliance about the City of Lebanon's compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, andthe Uniform Guidance, we;

r exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
. identiry and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or elror, and design and perform audit

p.o".dur., responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the City of
Lebanon's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we

considered necessary in the circumstances.
. obtain an understanding of the City of Lebanon's intemal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to

design audit procedurei that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on intemal control over
,o-"pliun.. in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effeitiveness of the City of Lebanon's internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of ihe audit and any significant deficieniies and material weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we

identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Our consideration of internal conhol over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identiSr all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that

might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance and therefore, material weaknesses

or 
-significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. We did not identify any deficiencies in intemal control over

"o-p1iun.. 
that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, as discussed below, we did identifl certain deficiencies in

internal control over compliance that we consider to be a significant deficiency.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow

-unugan1"nt or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,

noncinpliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A mqterial weakness in internal
control iver complian"iit u deficiency, or a Combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a

reasonable possi|itity that material ntncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be

prevented, or detectld and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internul control over compliance is a

ieficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal piogru- that is less severe than a material weakness in internal conffol over compliance, yet important enough to merit
attention by ttrose charged with governance. We consider the deficiencies in intemal control over compliance described in the

accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2022-001 to be a significant deficiency'

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.

Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Government Auditing Stqndards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the City of Lebanon's response to the

internal control over compliance findings identified in our compliance audit described in the accompanying schedule of findings

and questioned costs. Th; Ciry of Lebinon's response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of
compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response.

testing of internal controlThe purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance.
not suitable for any other purpose.

, this report is

February 28,2024
Concord, New Hampshire

PLODZIK&
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SCHEDULE I
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

For the Year Ended Decemher 31' 2022

SECTION I - SUMMARY OF AUDITOR'S RESULTS

Financial Ststements

Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial statements audited were prepared in accordance with GAAP:

Unmodified opinions on the governmental activities, business-type activities, each major fund,

and aggregate remaining fund information.

Internal control over financial reporting:

r Material weakness(es) identified?

o Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?

Federul Ab'ards

Internal control over major programs:

o Material weakness(es) identified?

o Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

20.106
21.027

X

X

X

X

X

no

none reported

no

no

none reported

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major federal programs Unmodified

Any audit furdings disclosed that are required to be reported in
accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? X yes 

- 

no

Identification of major federal programs:

Assistance Listine Numbers Name of Federal Program or Cluster

Airport ImProvement Program
COVID-l9 - Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and
type B programs:

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

$7

yes X no

SECTION II - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

NONB
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SCHEDULE I (Continued)
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

For the Year Ended December 31' 2022

2022-001

SECTION III _ FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND OUESTIONED COSTS

Lack of Documented Use of Airport Revenue Policy (Significant Deficiency)

Federal Agency: Department of Transportation
Cluster/Program: Airport Improvement Program
Assistance Listing Number: 20.106
Passed-through ldentification: #3-33-00f0-059-2019, #3-33-0010-062-2020'#3-33-0010-064-2021,#3-33-
0010-06s-202i, *l-ss-oo 10-066-2021,#3-33-0010-0 67-2021, #3-33-0010-068-2021, #3-33-0010-069-2022, and
#3-33-00r0-070-2022
Compliance Requirement: Special Test and Provision - Revenue Diversion

Type of Finding:
Internal Control over Compliance - Significant Deficiency

Criteria or Specific Requirement: Federal regulations 2 CFR 200.303 states, the City, as arecipient of Federal

funds, must 
"ttubtirh 

ani maintain effective internal controls over the Federal award that provides reasonable

assurance that the non-Federal entity is managing the Federal award in compliance with Federal statutes,

regulations and the terms and conditions of the Federal award.

In addition, the requirements of the program states that the use of airport revenues generated by a public airport

must be expended for the capital or bpeiating costs for the airport. The Federal Aviation Administrator issued a

notice titled "Policies and Procedures Concerning the Generation and Use of Airport Revenue" which contains

definitions, and unlawful revenue diversion, example of airport revenue, and describes permitted and prohibited

uses of airport revenue.

Condition: During our review of the program, the City does not have a policy over the use of airport revenues.

Cause: The City has not documented a use of airport revenue policy that complies with the Code of Federal

Regulations (CFR) or the Federal program.

Effect: Lack of a formal, documented policy may result in inappropriate use of revenues that may not be in
compliance with federal standards.

Questioned Costs: None

Identification as Repeat Finding: As identified in Schedule III, Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings, this

is a repeat of finding 2021-002.

Recommendation: We recommend that the City formally establish and implement a policy over the use of
airport revenues to ensure compliance with Federal regulations'

Views of Responsible Officials: Management's views and corrective action plan is included at the end of this

report.
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SCHEDULE II
Cily of Lebanon

Schedule of Expendilures of Federal Awards
For the Year Ended December 31' 2022

Fe deral Grantor/P ass-Through
Grantor/Pro$am or Cluster Title

Assistance
Listing

Number

Pass-Through
Grantor's
Number

Provided to
Subrecipients

Federal
Expendihres

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING
AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT

Passed Tlrough the State of New Hampshire
Develooment Finance A

Community Development Block Grant/State's Program
PROGRAM TOTAL

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Passed Through the State of New Hampshire
Denartment of Transoortation

Airport Improvement P rogram:
COVID-19 - Airport Improvement Progam
COVID-19 - Airport Improvement Program
COVID-I9 - Arport Improvement Program
Airport Improve ment Program
COVID-l9 - Airport Improvement Program
Airport Improvement P rogram
COVID-19 - Airport Improvement Progtam
COVID-19 - Airport Improvement Program
COVID-19 - Airport Improvement Program
Airport Improvement Proera;* 

M TorAL

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Passed Through the State of New Hampshire
DeDartment of TransPortation

HIGHI.I/AY PLANNING AND CONSTRUCTION CLUSTER

Highway Planning and Construction
Highway Planning and Construction

Passed Through the State of New Hampshire
Department ofNatrual and Culhral Resources

Recreational Trails Program
CLUSTERTOTAL

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Passed Through the State of New Hampshire
Deoartment of Safetv

State and Community Highway Safety

14.228

20.106
20.106
20.106
20.106
20.106
20.106
20.106
20.106
20.106
20.106
20.106

20.205
20.205

20.219

l9-094-CDPF

AIP #3-33-001 0-059-2019
AIP #3-33-001 0-062-2020
AIP #3-33-001 0-06/.-2021

AIP #3-33-001 0-065-2021
ArP #3-33-001 0 -065-2021

ArP #3-33-0010 -066-2021

ArP #3-33-001 0-066-2021

AIP #3-33-0010 -067 -2021

AIP #3-33-001 0 -068-2021

AIP # 3-33-00 I 0 -069-2022
ArP #3-33-0010-070-2022

40794
41366

22-21

.602 $ 433.354s 417
417 .602 433.354

858
2,100

1,036,833

7263
41,758

817
28274

439,006
2220

tsAsg
816,345

2,390,933

63,305

63,761

14.567

141.633

20.600 # l9-101

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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SCH EDULE II (Continued)
Citl of Lebanon

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
For the Year Ended December 3l 2022

Fe deral Grantor/P ass-Through
Grantor/Prosram or Cluster Title

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY

Passed Through the State of New Hampshire
Deoartment of Environmental Services

COVID-l9 - Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds

Passed Through the State of New Hampshire
Governor's Office for Emergency Relbf and Recoverv

COVID-19 - Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds

PROGRAM TOTAL

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SER\TCES

Passed Through the State of Vermont
Department of Health

Medical Reserve Corps Small Crrant Program

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY

Passed Through the State of New Hampshire
Deoartment of Heafth and Human Services

COVID-19 - Disaster Grants - Public Assistance (Presidentially Declared

Disasters)

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY

Passed Through the State of New Hampshire
Deoartrnent of Safetv

BRIC: Buihing Resilient Infrastructure and Communities

DIRECT FUNDING

U.S. DEPARTMBNT OF JUSTICE

Bullet Proof Vest Partnership Program

Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Crant Program

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY

COVID-I9 - Coronavirus Relbf Fund - TSA Cleaning

COVID-I9 - Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY

COVID-19 - Assistance to Firefrghters Grant

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards

2t.027 00FRF602WB4401A

21.027 N/A

93.069 03420-09099

97.036 FEMA-4516-DR.NH

97.047 EMB-2020-PC-0005

Assistance
Listing

Number

16.607

16.738

21.019

2t.027

Pass-Through
Grantor's
Number

Provided to
Subrecbients

Federal
Expenditures

20.800

38,143

58,943

5,1 16

tt,3t2

8.000

N/A
N/A

N/A

N/A

787

60,000

3,950

915,890

97.044 EMW-2020-FG-01172

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
85

1,425

$ 417,602 $ l8l



CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the "schedule") includes the federal award activity of the City
of Lebanon under programs of the iederal government for the year ended December 31,2022. The information in this Schedule

is presented in accordince with the requirements of Title 2lJ.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniftrm Administrative
Riquirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule

presents only a selected portion ofthe operations ofthe City ofLebanon, it is not intended to and does not present the financial
position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of the City of Lebanon.

Note 2. Summary of Signi/icant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting' Such expenditures are

recbgnized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not

allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Negative amounts shown on the Schedule represent adjustments or credits made in
the normal course of business to amounts reported as expenditures in prior years.

Note 3. Indirect Cost Rate

The City of Lebanon has elected not to use the l0-percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform Guidance.

Note 4. COVID-L| - Coronavirus State and Local Recovery Fund

The City was allotted a total of $1,429,118 in federal funds as a non-entitlement unit from the American Rescue Plan Act
(ARpAi which was received in two equal payments. The City of Lebanon had a library renovation project that began in fiscal
year zSzt which was originally planned io be funded through non-federal means. In fiscal year 2022, the City earmarked
'$9OO,OOO 

in Coronavi6 Stut. ina Locat Fiscal Recovery Funds - Direct Funding to be used for the library renovation project

under expense category 6.1 Revenue Replacement. Ofthe $915,890 reported on Schedule II, $900,000 represented expenditures

incurred in fiscal year 2021, but not earmarked until fiscal year 2022.

Note 5. COVID-I| - Disaster Grants - Public Assistunce (Presidentially Declared Disasters)

Non-federal entities must record expenditures on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (SEFA) when (l) FEMA has

approved the nonfederal entity's pioject worksheet (PW), and (2) the nonfederal entity has incurred the eligible expenditures.
peieral awards expended in yiars-subsequent to the fiscal year in which the PW is approved are to be recorded on the nonfederal
entity's SEFA in those subsequent years. The $1 1,312 reported for COVID-l9 - Disaster Grants - Public Assistance

(presidentially Declared Disasteis), ALN 97.036, represents expenditures occurred in prior years that were approved by FEMA
during fiscalyear 2022.
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CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN
FebruarY 2'7,2024

Audit Findine Reference:

2022-001

Planned Corrective Action:

The City has adopted an Airport Revenue Policy on 61812023'

Name of Contact Person and Completion Date:

Name 1 Carl Gross, AirPort Manager

Name 2 Vicki Lee, Finance Director

Anticipated Completion Date * Completed 6/812023

Audit Findins Reference:

2022-002

Planned Corrective Action :

The City acknowledged the recommendation and submitted the 2022 reports as required within the 120 days after the

calendar year end date.

Name of Contact Person and Completion Date:

Name I Carl Gross, AirPo( Manager

Name 2 Vicki Lee, Finance Director

Anticipated Completion Date - Completed 3ll/2023


